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MAGUIRE PROPERTIES, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share data) 
(unaudited)

  

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
   
ITEM 1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
   

                   June 30, 2005    December 31, 2004  
                           
ASSETS            
Investments in real estate:            
     Land   $ 385,153  $ 255,886 
     Acquired ground lease      30,425    30,425 
     Buildings and improvements     2,791,376    1,820,347 
     Land held for development and disposition     213,092    126,519 
     Tenant improvements     231,646    173,569 
     Furniture, fixtures and equipment     13,220    12,997 
                    3,664,912    2,419,743 
     Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization     (239,005)   (199,078)
                    3,425,907    2,220,665 
     Assets associated with real estate held for sale     232,977    - 
                    3,658,884    2,220,665 
                         
Cash and cash equivalents     39,060    64,495 
Restricted cash     127,637    71,123 
Rents and other receivables     9,949    8,038 
Deferred rents     28,930    24,734 
Due from affiliates     3,972    3,913 
Deferred leasing costs and value of in-place leases, net     224,871    152,528 
Deferred loan costs, net     24,211    15,826 
Acquired above market leases     49,735    37,207 
Other assets     14,306    5,365 
     Total assets   $ 4,181,555  $ 2,603,894 

                         
                         
LIABILITIES, MINORITY INTERESTS AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY          
Mortgage loans   $ 3,076,730  $ 1,550,250 
Other secured loans     120,200    255,200 
Accounts payable and other liabilities     109,647    77,330 
Dividends and distributions payable     24,694    24,692 
Capital leases payable     7,367    5,408 
Acquired lease obligations     108,575    81,449 
Obligations associated with real estate held for sale     194,939    - 
     Total liabilities     3,642,152    1,994,329 
                         
Minority interests     53,332    72,198 
Stockholders’ equity:          
     Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized:          
           7.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, $25.00           
          liquidation preference, 10,000,000 shares issued and outstanding     100    100 
     Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized,           
          44,153,642 and 43,258,489 shares issued and outstanding at           
          June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively     442    433 
     Additional paid-in capital     658,767    653,099 
     Unearned and accrued stock compensation, net     (3,968)   (5,184)
     Accumulated deficits and dividends     (168,684)   (119,033)
     Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income, net     (586)   7,952 
          Total stockholders’ equity     486,071    537,367 

          Total liabilities, minority interests and stockholders’ equity   $ 4,181,555  $ 2,603,894 
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MAGUIRE PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

 

 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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                  Three Months Ended

                   June 30, 2005    June 30, 2004  
                           
Revenues:            
     Rental   $ 74,611  $ 44,844 
     Tenant reimbursements     27,793    18,088 
     Hotel operations     5,763    5,285 
     Parking     10,648    7,813 
     Management, leasing and development          
          services to affiliates     1,001    956 
     Interest and other     1,119    514 
          Total revenues     120,935    77,500 
                         
Expenses:          
     Rental property operating and maintenance     24,594    16,462 
     Hotel operating and maintenance     3,821    3,574 
     Real estate taxes     10,586    5,416 
     Parking      2,990    2,188 
     General and administrative and other     5,293    5,396 
     Ground lease     666    666 
     Depreciation and amortization     43,254    20,139 
     Interest     40,827    14,134 
     Loss from early extinguishment of debt     442    - 
          Total expenses     132,473    67,975 
          (Loss) income from continuing operations before           
               minority interests     (11,538)   9,525 
Minority interests attributable to continuing operations     3,118    (976)
          (Loss) income from continuing operations     (8,420)   8,549 
                         
Income from discontinued operations before minority interests     1,399    675 
Minority interests attributable to discontinued operations     (268)   (138)
          Income from discontinued operations     1,131    537 
                         
          Net (loss) income     (7,289)   9,086 
                         
Preferred stock dividends     (4,766)   (4,766)
          Net (loss) income available to common shareholders   $ (12,055) $ 4,320 

                         
Basic and diluted (loss) income per share from continuing operations           
     available to common shareholders    $ (0.31) $ 0.09 
                         
Basic and diluted (loss) income per share available to common shareholders   $ (0.28) $ 0.10 
                         
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:           
     Basic     43,146,500    42,334,249 
                         
     Diluted      43,146,500    42,487,711 
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MAGUIRE PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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                  Six Months Ended

                   June 30, 2005    June 30, 2004  
                           
Revenues:            
     Rental   $ 130,257  $ 81,275 
     Tenant reimbursements     48,614    36,991 
     Hotel operations     11,678    10,484 
     Parking     19,715    14,962 
     Management, leasing and development          
          services to affiliates     1,262    1,653 
     Interest and other     1,831    1,362 
          Total revenues     213,357    146,727 
                         
Expenses:          
     Rental property operating and maintenance     43,161    30,968 
     Hotel operating and maintenance     7,665    7,285 
     Real estate taxes     18,354    10,404 
     Parking      5,585    4,235 
     General and administrative and other     10,951    9,173 
     Ground lease     1,332    1,325 
     Depreciation and amortization     71,025    36,317 
     Interest     64,772    27,064 
     Loss from early extinguishment of debt     1,650    - 
          Total expenses     224,495    126,771 
          (Loss) income from continuing operations before           
               minority interests     (11,138)   19,956 
Minority interests attributable to continuing operations     3,971    (2,376)

          (Loss) income from continuing operations     (7,167)   17,580 
                         
Income from discontinued operations before minority interests     2,530    1,302 
Minority interests attributable to discontinued operations     (489)   (267)

          Income from discontinued operations     2,041    1,035 
                         
          Net (loss) income     (5,126)   18,615 
                         
Preferred stock dividends     (9,532)   (8,367)

          Net (loss) income available to common shareholders   $ (14,658) $ 10,248 

                         
Basic and diluted (loss) income per share from continuing operations           
     available to common shareholders    $ (0.39) $ 0.22 
                         
Basic and diluted (loss) income per share available to common shareholders   $ (0.34) $ 0.24 
                         
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:           
     Basic     43,035,896    42,332,085 
                         
     Diluted      43,035,896    42,494,029 
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MAGUIRE PROPERTIES, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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                  Six Months Ended

                    June 30, 2005    June 30, 2004  
                           
Net (loss) income    $ (5,126) $ 18,615 
                         
Other comprehensive income:          
     Increase (decrease) in fair value of interest rate swaps      (8,695)   3,277 
     Amortization of unrealized gains on sale of interest rate swaps agreements     (1,906)   (244)

     Minority interests     2,049    (616)

          Comprehensive net (loss) income    $ (13,678) $ 21,032 
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MAGUIRE PROPERTIES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
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    Six Months Ended
     June 30, 2005    June 30, 2004  
             
Cash flows from operating activities:            
     Net (loss) income:   $ (5,126) $ 18,615 
     Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash          
           provided by operating activities (including            
          discontinued operations):          
          Minority interests     (3,482)   2,643 
          Depreciation and amortization, including amounts          
               for discontinued operations     71,679    38,125 
          Revenue recognized related to acquired lease           
               obligations, net of acquired above market leases     (2,967)   (1,183)
          Compensation expense for equity-based awards     1,611    817 
          Loss on extinguishment of debt, including amounts          
               for discontinued operations     2,322    - 
          Amortization of deferred loan costs     2,421    1,901 
          Change in fair value of interest rate caps     293    103 
          Accretion of deferred gain from sale of interest rate swaps     (1,906)   (244)
          Changes in assets and liabilities:          
               Rents and other receivables     (2,585)   1,105 
               Due from affiliates     (59)   (959)
               Deferred rents     (7,017)   (3,974)
               Deferred leasing costs     (4,502)   (15,638)
               Other assets     (3,795)   (3,750)
               Accounts payable and other liabilities     21,254    3,574 
                    Net cash provided by operating           
                          activities     68,141    41,135 
                                   
Cash flows from investing activities:          
     Expenditures for improvements to real estate     (16,501)   (9,770)
     Expenditures for predevelopment costs     (4,025)   - 
     Acquisitions of real estate     (1,547,879)   (98,059)
     Proceeds from sales of real estate     78,229    - 
     Deposit received for sale of land     1,000    - 
     Deposit for purchase of real estate     -    (10,000)
     Change in restricted cash     (56,514)   1,263 
                    Net cash used in investing activities     (1,545,690)   (116,566)
                                   
Cash flows from financing activities:          
     Proceeds from equity offering - preferred stock     -    250,000 
     Payment of offering costs - preferred stock     -    (8,777)
     Payment of loan costs     (14,440)   (93)
     Proceeds from mortgage loans     1,246,080    - 
     Proceeds from term loan     450,000    - 
     Proceeds from other secured loans     10,000    - 
     Borrowings on revolving credit facility     70,000    - 
     Principal payments on mortgage loans     (47,000)   - 
     Principal payments on term loan     (35,000)   - 
     Principal payments on other secured loans     (101,000)   - 
     Repayments on revolving credit facility     (70,000)   - 
     Payment of refinancing deposits     (6,095)   (2,150)
     Other financing activities     2,978    - 
     Principal payments on capital leases     (846)   (552)
     Payment of dividends to preferred stockholders     (9,532)   (5,188)
     Payment of dividends to common stockholders and           
          distributions to limited partners of operating partnership     (43,031)   (42,916)
                    Net cash provided by financing activities     1,452,114    190,324 
                    Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents     (25,435)   114,893 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     64,495    43,735 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 39,060  $ 158,628 
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MAGUIRE PROPERTIES, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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                            Six Months Ended

                             June 30, 2005    June 30, 2004  
                                     
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:            
             
     Cash paid for interest, including amounts capitalized   $ 64,001  $ 25,566 
           
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing 
     and financing activities:          
           
     Accrual for real estate improvements and           
          purchases of furniture, fixtures, and equipment   $ 13,994  $ 613 
     Accrual for offering costs and reclassification of previously            
          accrued offering costs to stockholders’ equity     -    508 
     Accrual for dividends and distributions declared     24,694    24,692 
     Assumption of mortgage and other secured loans     155,000    164,000 
     Buyer’s assumption of mortgage loans secured by property sold     103,600    - 
     Increase (decrease) in fair value of interest rate swaps     (8,695)   3,277 
     Other secured loans converted to mortgage loans     44,000    - 
     Operating partnership units converted to common stock     5,130    - 
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The terms “Maguire Properties,” “us,” “we” and “our” as used in this report refer to Maguire Properties, Inc. Through our controlling interest in Maguire Properties, L.P. 
(the “Operating Partnership”) of which we are the sole general partner, and the subsidiaries of our Operating Partnership, including Maguire Properties TRS Holdings, Inc. 
(“TRS Holdings”) and Maguire Properties Services, Inc. (“MP Services”) and their subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Services Companies”), we own, manage, lease, 
acquire and develop real estate located in the greater Los Angeles area of California, Orange County, California; San Diego, California; and Denver, Colorado consisting 
primarily of office properties, land, related parking garages, a retail property and a hotel. We are a full service real estate company and we operate as a real estate investment 
trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes. 
  

  We were formed to succeed to certain businesses of the Maguire Properties’ predecessor (the “Predecessor”), which was never a single legal entity but rather a combination 
of numerous real estate entities collectively doing business as Maguire Partners, an owner, developer and acquirer of institutional-quality properties in the Los Angeles real estate 
market since 1965. We were incorporated, and our Operating Partnership was formed, in Maryland on June 26, 2002, and MP Services was incorporated in Maryland on August 
15, 2002, each in anticipation of our initial public offering of common stock (the “IPO”), which was consummated on June 27, 2003 concurrently with the consummation of 
various formation transactions. These transactions consolidated the ownership of the portfolio of properties and property interests, and a substantial majority of the real estate 
management, leasing and development business of our Predecessor, into our Operating Partnership and our Services Companies. From inception through June 27, 2003, neither 
we, our Operating Partnership nor our Services Companies had any operations. 
  

  On January 23, 2004, we completed the offering of 10 million shares of our 7.625% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (liquidation preference $25.00 per 
share) (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) for total gross proceeds of $250.0 million, including the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option. We used these proceeds to 
fund our 2004 property acquisitions.  
  

  Our operations are carried on primarily through our Operating Partnership and its wholly owned subsidiaries, including our Services Companies. Pursuant to contribution 
agreements among the owners of the Predecessor and our Operating Partnership, our Operating Partnership received a contribution of direct and indirect interests in connection 
with the IPO in certain properties, as well as certain assets of the management, leasing and real estate development operations of the Predecessor in exchange for limited 
partnership units in our Operating Partnership (“Units”). Our Operating Partnership also acquired additional interests in certain properties from unaffiliated parties, which were 
paid for in cash. As of June 30, 2005, our company held 82.1% of the common Units of our Operating Partnership.  
  

  Through our Operating Partnership, we own a portfolio of 25 commercial real estate properties, including 22 office and retail projects (69 buildings), one 350-room hotel and 
six off-site parking garages totaling 5,969 spaces. In addition, our office portfolio contains on -site structured and surface parking totaling 26,549 spaces. We also own 
undeveloped land that we believe can support up to 11.8 million square feet of office, retail, structured parking and residential uses. In addition, we manage an office, hotel and 
retail property located in the Dallas/Ft. Worth, Texas area, a housing complex and a parking garage in the Los Angeles Central Business District (“LACBD”), and buildings in 
West Los Angeles, California, Pasadena, California and Santa Monica, California owned by Robert F. Maguire III, our Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer, for which we 
earn customary fees and incentive fees. The management agreements between us and the entities that own these properties will terminate if and when Mr. Maguire no longer 
owns an interest in these properties or is no longer bound by his non-competition agreement with us. 
  
  

Table of Contents

MAGUIRE PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Description of Business    
   

7



  
  

As of June 30, 2005, the majority of our existing portfolio is located in nine Southern California markets: the LACBD; the Tri-Cities area of Pasadena, Glendale and Burbank; 
the Cerritos submarket; the Santa Monica Professional and Entertainment submarket; the John Wayne Airport and Costa Mesa submarkets of Orange County; and the 
University Towne Center (“UTC”), Sorrento Mesa and Mission Valley submarkets of San Diego County. We also own a property in Denver, Colorado. Our portfolio includes six 
office properties in the LACBD - US Bank Tower, Gas Company Tower, KPMG Tower, Wells Fargo Tower - Los Angeles, 777 Tower and One California Plaza - and four 
off-site parking garages. In the Tri-Cities submarket, we own the Plaza Las Fuentes office and the WestinÒ Pasadena Hotel properties in Pasadena and the Glendale Center, 700 
North Central and 801 North Brand properties (collectively the “Glendale properties”) in Glendale. The three Glendale properties are held for sale as of June 30, 2005. In the 
Cerritos submarket, we own the Cerritos Corporate Center Phase I and Phase II properties, collectively known as the Cingular Wireless Western Regional Headquarters. In the 
Santa Monica Professional and Entertainment submarket, we own the Lantana Media Campus. Our portfolio also includes Park Place I, Park Place II and the Washington 
Mutual Irvine Campus located in the John Wayne Airport submarket of Orange County. In the Costa Mesa submarket in Orange County, we own Pacific Arts Plaza. In the 
UTC submarket of San Diego County, we own Regents Square I and II. We own Wateridge Plaza and San Diego Tech Center in the Sorrento Mesa submarket of San Diego 
County. In the Mission Valley submarket of San Diego County, we own Mission City Corporate Center. In the downtown submarket of Denver, we own Wells Fargo Center.  
  

We also own land parcels adjacent to our Glendale properties, 777 Tower, Washington Mutual Irvine Campus, Lantana Media Campus, Pacific Arts Plaza, Wateridge Plaza, 
San Diego Tech Center and Mission City Corporate Center that we believe can support approximately 587,000, 840,000, 145,000, 194,000, 400,000, 170,000, 1,200,000 and 
102,000 net rentable square feet of office developments, respectively. In addition, we own undeveloped land at Park Place II that we believe can support approximately 7.5 
million net rentable square feet of office, retail, structured parking and residential uses. 
  

Our Operating Partnership has entered into option agreements with entities controlled by Mr. Maguire under which it has the right to acquire a completed office property in 
Santa Monica, California (“1733 Ocean Avenue”) for the lesser of its fair market value or cost (plus an 8.0% return thereon), a completed office property in the Tri-Cities area, 
Western Asset Plaza, for cost (plus an 8.0% return thereon), and a 12.5% interest in an entity that owns two existing office buildings and adjacent developable land, each in West 
Los Angeles, California, for cost (plus an 8.0% return thereon). Each of these options has remaining terms of approximately three years. 
  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include all of the accounts of Maguire Properties, Inc., the Operating Partnership and the subsidiaries of the Operating 
Partnership. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 
  

The accompanying interim financial statements are unaudited, but have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for 
interim financial information and in conjunction with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Accordingly, they do not include all of the disclosures 
required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the financial statements for these interim 
periods have been included. The results of operations for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results to be obtained for the full fiscal year. These financial 
statements  
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2.     Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Principles of Consolidation 
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should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and the notes thereto included in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004. 
  

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when acquired. Cash and cash equivalents are deposited with 
financial institutions that we believe are creditworthy. 
  

Cash is invested with quality federally insured institutions that are members of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). Cash balances with institutions may be 
in excess of federally insured limits or may be invested in time deposits that are not insured by the institution, the FDIC, or any other government agency. We have not realized 
any losses in such cash investments and we believe that these investments are not exposed to any significant credit risk. 
  

Restricted cash primarily consists of deposits for real estate taxes and insurance and leasing and other costs as required by certain of our loan agreements. Restricted cash 
also includes $45.2 million for the Washington Mutual Irvine Campus note payable, which is collateralized with a letter of credit fully secured by this deposit. Both the deposit and 
the loan bear interest at 2.82%. This note payable, along with related accrued interest, is expected to be repaid in December 2005 from the proceeds of this cash deposit. 
  

Project costs associated with the development and construction of a real estate project are capitalized as construction in progress. In addition, interest, loan fees, real estate 
taxes, general and administrative expenses that are directly associated with and incremental to our development activities and other costs are capitalized during the period in 
which activities necessary to get the property ready for its intended use are in progress, including the pre -development and lease-up phases. Once the development and 
construction of the building shell of a real estate project is completed, the costs capitalized to construction in progress are transferred to land and buildings and improvements on 
the consolidated balance sheets as the historical cost of the property. Interest capitalized for the three months ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004 was $579,000 and $0, 
respectively. Interest capitalized for the six months ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004 was $1,096,000 and $0, respectively.  
  

We elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2003. We 
have been organized and have operated in a manner that we believe has allowed us to qualify for taxation as a REIT under the Code commencing with our taxable year ended 
December 31, 2003, and we intend to continue to be organized and operate in this manner. As a REIT, we are not required to pay federal corporate income taxes on our taxable 
income to the extent it is currently distributed to our stockholders. 
  

However, qualification and taxation as a REIT depends upon our ability to meet the various qualification tests imposed under the Code related to annual operating results, 
asset diversification, distribution levels and diversity of stock ownership. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that we will be organized or be able to operate in a manner so as 
to qualify or remain qualified as a REIT. If we fail to  
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Development Activities
 

Income Taxes
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qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will be subject to federal income tax (including any applicable alternative minimum tax) on our taxable income at regular corporate tax 
rates. 
  

We have elected to treat each of the Services Companies we own as a taxable REIT subsidiary (a “TRS”). In general, a TRS may perform non-customary services for 
tenants, hold assets that we cannot hold directly and generally may engage in any real estate or non-real estate related business (except for the operation or management of 
health care facilities or lodging facilities or the provision to any person, under a franchise, license or otherwise, rights to any brand name under which any lodging facility or health 
care facility is operated). A TRS is subject to corporate federal income taxes on its taxable income at regular corporate tax rates. There is no tax provision for our Services 
Companies and Subsidiaries for the periods presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations due to the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards. 
  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates made. 
  

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 123 (Revised) “Share-Based Payment” (“FAS 123(R)”). FAS 123(R) is a revision of 
FAS 123, as amended, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (“FAS 123”) and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, Accounting for Stock 
Issued to Employees. FAS 123(R) requires that all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, be recognized in the income statement based 
on their fair values.  
  

On April 1, 2005, we adopted FAS 123(R). While the provisions of FAS 123(R) are not required until the first annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005, we 
elected to adopt FAS 123(R) before the required effective date. We adopted FAS 123(R) using a modified prospective application, as permitted under FAS 123(R). Accordingly, 
prior period amounts have not been restated. Under this application, we are required to record compensation expense for all awards granted after the date of adoption and for the 
unvested portion of previously granted awards that remain outstanding as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption.  
  

Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), we applied APB 25 to account for our stock-based awards. Under APB 25, we generally only recorded stock-based compensation 
expense for restricted stock, which amounted to $0.2 million and $0.8 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2004, respectively. Under the provisions of APB 25, we 
were not required to recognize compensation expense for stock options. Beginning in the second quarter of 2005, with the adoption of FAS 123(R), we recorded stock-based 
compensation expense for stock options, restricted stock and performance awards (together, “Equity Classified Awards”). Stock-based compensation expense for the three and 
six months ended June 30, 2005 were $1.0 million and $1.6 million, respectively.  
  

The following table illustrates the effect on net (loss) income available to common shareholders and (loss) earnings per share if we had recorded compensation expense 
based on the fair value method for all Equity Classified Awards for the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 The amounts for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 
are included in the table below only to provide detail for a  
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comparative presentation to the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 (in thousands, except per share amounts):
  

 
 

The fair market value of each stock option granted is estimated on the date of the grant using the Cox, Ross and Rubenstein binomial tree option -pricing model with the 
following weighted-average assumptions for grants in 2005, 2004 and 2003. 
  

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.  
  

We have receivables due from entities controlled by Mr. Maguire in the amount of $4.0 million and $3.9 million as of June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively. 
These receivables are for management fees, development fees, leasing commissions and other operating expense reimbursements and were current as of June 30, 2005. On July 
8, 2005, $2.5 million of these receivables were collected. 
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Three Months 
Ended 

June 30,

Six Months 
Ended 

June 30,
     2005    2004    2005    2004  

                       
Reported net (loss) income available 
 to common shareholders

 
$ (12,055) $ 4,320  $ (14,658) $ 10,248 

Add: Total stock-based employee 
    compensation expense included
    in reported net (loss) income, 
    net of minority interests

 

  832    144    1,301    650 
Less: Total stock-based employee 
    compensation expense 
    determined under the fair 
    value method, net of minority 
    interests

 

  (832)   (187)   (1,301)   (735)
Pro forma net income (loss) available to  
    common shareholders

 
$ (12,055) $ 4,277  $ (14,658) $ 10,163 

Earnings per share available to common 
    shareholders:

 
               

    Basic and dilutive - as reported   $ (0.28) $ 0.10  $ (0.34) $ 0.24 
    Basic and dilutive - pro forma   $ (0.28) $ 0.10  $ (0.34) $ 0.24 

Assumption Price   2005   2004   2003

             
Dividend yield   5.7%   6.5%   8.3%

Expected life of option    36 months     36 months     36 months 

Contractual term of option    10 years     10 years     10 years 

Risk-free interest rate   3.94%   4.60%   3.41%

Expected stock price volatility   17.24%   29.34%   15.00%

Number of steps   500   500   500

Fair value of options (per share) on grant date   $3.34    $4.18    $1.21 

Reclassifications
 

Related Party Transactions
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(Loss) earnings per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of shares of our common stock outstanding during the period. The following is a summary of 
the elements used in calculating basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share (in thousands, except share and per share amounts): 
  

___________

  
  

Minority interests relate to the interests in our Operating Partnership that are not owned by our company, which, at June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004 amounted to 
17.9% and 19.5%, respectively. In conjunction with the formation of our company, Mr. Maguire and entities controlled by him and certain other persons and entities contributing 
ownership interests in the Predecessor properties to our Operating Partnership received Units. Limited partners who acquired Units in the formation transactions have the right to 
require our Operating Partnership to redeem part or all of their Units for cash based upon the fair market value of an equivalent number of shares of our common stock at the 
time of the redemption. Alternatively, we may elect to acquire those Units in exchange for shares of our common stock on a one-for-one basis, subject to adjustment in the event 
of stock splits, stock dividends, issuance of stock rights, specified extraordinary distributions and similar events. During the six months ended June 30, 2005, our  
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3.      (Loss) Earnings per Share
 

 
 

Three months 
ended 

June 30,

Six months 
ended 

June 30,

     2005    2004    2005    2004  
                       
(Loss) income from continuing operations   $ (8,420) $ 8,549  $ (7,167) $ 17,580 
Preferred dividends     (4,766)   (4,766)   (9,532)   (8,367)

(Loss) income from continuing operations available to 
common shareholders

 
  (13,186)   3,783    (16,699)   9,213 

Income from discontinued operations        1,131    537    2,041    1,035 
Net (loss) income available to common shareholders   $ (12,055) $ 4,320  $ (14,658) $ 10,248 

                   
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic     43,146,500    42,334,249    43,035,896    42,332,085 
                   
Potentially dilutive securities (1):                  

Stock options     -    104,779    -    110,576 
Restricted stock     -    48,683    -    51,368 

Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted     43,146,500    42,487,711    43,035,896    42,494,029 

                   
(Loss) earnings per share - basic:                  
(Loss) income per share from continuing 
     operations available to 
     common shareholders 

 
$ (0.31) $ 0.09  $ (0.39) $ 0.22 

Income per share from discontinued operations     0.03    0.01    0.05    0.02 
Net (loss) income per share available to common 
    shareholders 

 
$ (0.28) $ 0.10  $ (0.34) $ 0.24 

                   
(Loss) earnings per share - diluted:                  
(Loss) income per share from continuing 
     operations available to 
     common shareholders 

 
$ (0.31) $ 0.09  $ (0.39) $ 0.22 

Income per share from discontinued operations     0.03    0.01    0.05    0.02 
Net loss (income) per share available to common
    shareholders 

 
$ (0.28) $ 0.10  $ (0.34) $ 0.24 

(1) For the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, the effect of the assumed exercise of 570,000 potentially dilutive outstanding stock options and the effect of 284,591 potentially dilutive unvested shares of 
restrictive stock that have been granted or had been committed to be granted were not included in the earnings per share calculation as their effect is antidilutive. 

4.     Minority Interests
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Operating Partnership redeemed a total of 890,526 Units upon instruction from limited partners for an equivalent number of shares. Neither the company nor our Operating 
Partnership received any proceeds from the issuance of the common stock to limited partners.  
  

A summary of our outstanding consolidated indebtedness as of June 30, 2005 is as follows: 
  

________
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5.     Debt
 

  Maturity       Principal Outstanding
      Date   Interest Rate   June 30, 2005   December 31, 2004

               
Term Loan 03/15/10   LIBOR + 1.75%   $ 415,000    $    - 
US Bank Tower Mortgage 07/01/13   4.66%     260,000      260,000 
Gas Company Tower and                        
   808 South Olive Garage:                        

Mortgage (1) 07/06/07 (2) LIBOR + 0.824% (3)   230,000      230,000 
Senior Mezzanine (1) 07/07/08 (4) LIBOR + 3.750% (5)   30,000      30,000 
Junior Mezzanine (1) 07/06/07 (2) LIBOR + 6.625% (3), (6)   20,000      20,000 

Wells Fargo Tower (CA) Mortgage 07/01/10   4.68% (7)   250,000      250,000 
KPMG Tower Mortgage 11/01/11   5.14%     210,000      210,000 
Park Place I Mortgage 11/01/14   5.64%     170,000      170,000 
One California Plaza Mortgage 12/01/10   4.73%     146,250      146,250 
Park Place II Mortgage (8) 01/22/06   LIBOR + 1.75%     44,000      140,000 
Washington Mutual Mortgage 12/11/11   5.07%     106,000      106,000 
Lantana Mortgage 01/06/10   4.94%     98,000      98,000 
Wells Fargo Center (CO) Mortgage 04/06/15   5.26%     276,000         - 
Pacific Arts Plaza Mortgage 04/01/12   5.15%     270,000         - 
777 Tower Mortgage (9) 10/10/09   4.81%     115,000         - 
777 Tower Mortgage (9) 10/10/09   LIBOR + 0.90%     40,000         - 
San Diego Tech Center Mortgage 04/11/15   5.70%     133,000         - 
Regents Square I & II Mortgage 04/01/12   5.13%     103,600         - 
Park Place II Mortgage 03/12/12   5.39%     100,000         - 
Wateridge Plaza Mortgage 04/11/07   LIBOR + 1.75% (10)   57,880         - 
Wateridge Plaza Mezzanine 04/11/07   LIBOR + 1.75% (10)   5,000         - 
Mission City Corporate Center Mortgage 04/01/12   5.09%     52,000         - 
Revolving Credit Facility 06/27/06 (11) LIBOR + 2.13%        -      20,000 
Revolving Credit Facility 03/15/09 (11) LIBOR + 1.75%     20,000         - 
            3,151,730      1,680,250 
                         
Washington Mutual Secured Loan (12) 12/13/05   2.82%     45,200      45,200 
Total Debt - Continuing Operations     3,196,930      1,725,450 
                         
Discontinued Operations                        
Glendale Center Mortgage 11/01/13   5.727%     80,000      80,000 
801 North Brand Mortgage 04/06/15   5.73%     75,540         - 
700 North Central Mortgage 04/06/15   5.73%     27,460         - 
Total Debt - Discontinued Operations         183,000      80,000 
                         
Total Consolidated Debt including Discontinued Operations   $ 3,379,930    $ 1,805,450 

(1) On July 29, 2005, we obtained a $458.0 million conditional loan commitment to refinance the Gas Company Tower and 808 South Olive garage debt in August 2006 at an effective interest rate of 5.35%, 
including the cost of the forward commitment.

   

(2) A one-year extension is available.

   
(3) As required by the loan agreement, we have entered into an interest rate cap agreement with respect to this loan that limits the LIBOR portion of the interest rate to 7.92% during the term of the loan, excluding 

extension periods. Subsequently, we sold a similar interest rate cap instrument, effectively canceling out the 7.92% LIBOR cap. 
   
(4) This loan must be repaid on the maturity date of the Gas Company Tower and 808 South Olive garage mortgage financing if the mortgage is not extended. 
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Except for our mortgage loans for Wells Fargo Tower - Los Angeles, KPMG Tower, One California Plaza and Park Place I, our mortgage and mezzanine loans require 
interest-only payments on a monthly basis with principal due at maturity. Our Wells Fargo Tower mortgage loan requires monthly payments of interest only until July 2006 when 
monthly principal payments based on a 30-year amortization schedule begin. Our KPMG Tower mortgage loan requires monthly payments of interest only until November 2009 
when monthly principal payments based on a 30-year amortization schedule begin. Our One California Plaza mortgage loan requires monthly payments of interest only until 
November 2007 when monthly principal payments based on a 26-year amortization schedule begin. Our Park Place I mortgage loan requires monthly payments of interest only 
until December 2009 when monthly principal payments based on a 30-year amortization schedule begin. 
  

As of June 30, 2005, of our total secured debt (including debt related to discontinued operations) of $3,379.9 million, $479.0 million may be prepaid with no penalty, $1,645.6 
million may be defeased after various lockout periods (as defined in the underlying loan agreements), $1,210.1 million contain restrictions that would require the payment of 
prepayment penalties for the acceleration of outstanding debt if not paid on or after various dates (as specified in the underlying loan agreements) and $45.2 million may not be 
prepaid or defeased. 
  

In connection with financing the Common Wealth Properties (“CWP”) Portfolio acquisition, we obtained approximately $1,032.2 million in fixed-rate mortgage debt with a 
weighted average rate of 5.19% (including the assumption of the $115.0 million 777 Tower fixed-rate mortgage), $104.9 million in variable-rate mortgage debt at LIBOR plus 
2.0% to 2.25% and assumed the $40.0 million 777 Tower variable-rate mortgage at LIBOR plus 0.90%. To fund a portion of the CWP Portfolio acquisition, Maguire Properties 
Holdings I, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership, completed a $450.0 million, five -year financing (the “Term Loan”) with Credit Suisse First Boston 
(“CSFB”). The Term Loan has a variable interest rate of LIBOR plus 1.75% and requires quarterly principal payments of  

Table of Contents

MAGUIRE PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

   
(5) As required by this loan, we have entered into an interest rate cap agreement with respect to this loan that limits the LIBOR portion of the interest rate to 3.5% during the term of the loan, excluding extension 

periods. Subsequently, we sold a similar interest rate cap instrument, effectively canceling out the 3.5% LIBOR cap.

   
(6) This loan is subject to a LIBOR floor of 2%. This loan also requires a monthly “interest floor differential” payment during any month in which LIBOR is less than 2% per annum; such payment must be made 

until the principal balance of the Gas Company Tower and 808 South Olive Garage senior mezzanine loan no longer exceeds $20.0 million, and is equal to the positive difference between 2% and LIBOR, times a 
notional amount that is initially $10.0 million, but which decreases dollar for dollar as the first $10.0 million of senior mezzanine loan principal is repaid. 

   
(7) There are seven individual rates for this mortgage with interest rates ranging from 4.50% to 4.83% with a weighted average interest rate of 4.68%. 
   
(8) We partially refinanced the Park Place II bridge loan, outstanding as of December 31, 2004, with a new $100.0 million, seven-year fixed-rate, interest-only mortgage loan and converted the remaining balance of 

the bridge loan into a mortgage loan secured by certain Park Place II development parcels.
   
(9) In April 2005, we obtained a $273.0 million fixed-rate conditional loan commitment to refinance 777 Tower in October 2006 at the then prevailing seven-year swap rate plus a spread of 0.949%. On March 4, 

2005, we entered into a forward-starting interest rate swap agreement in connection with this anticipated refinancing that will effectively fix this loan at 5.844%. 
   
(10) As required by the loan agreement, we have entered into an interest rate cap agreement with respect to this loan that limits the LIBOR portion of the interest rate to 4.75% during the term of the loan, excluding 

extension periods.
   
(11) We replaced this credit facility on March 15, 2005 with a new $100.0 million secured revolving credit facility, which matures on March 15, 2009 and currently bears interest of LIBOR + 1.75%. The spread may 

fluctuate between 1.50% and 2.00%, depending on our consolidated leverage ratio.
   
(12) This note payable is collateralized with a letter of credit fully secured by an interest-bearing cash deposit. The note and related accrued interest are expected to be repaid from the proceeds of the cash deposit. 
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$1.125 million, the first of which was due June 30, 2005 and extends through December 31, 2009, with the remaining outstanding principal balance due at maturity on March 15, 
2010. The Term Loan is guaranteed by the Operating Partnership. 
  

Also in connection with the issuance of the Term Loan, CSFB originated a new $100.0 million secured revolving credit facility, which replaces our prior $100.0 million 
revolving credit facility. The new revolving credit facility currently bears interest at a variable rate of LIBOR plus 1.75%, or CSFB’s base rate plus 0.75%, and matures on 
March 15, 2009. The interest rate margin on the revolving credit facility may be increased or decreased by 0.25% based on our consolidated leverage ratio. The new revolving 
credit facility is guaranteed by Maguire Properties Holdings I, LLC. In addition, the Term Loan and new revolving credit facility are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries, and are 
secured by deeds of trust on Cerritos Corporate Center I and II, Plaza Las Fuentes, the WestinÒ Pasadena Hotel, 755 South Figueroa, 200 Burchett and Pacific Arts Plaza West 
properties, the undeveloped land parcel at Washington Mutual Irvine Campus and pledges of equity interest in substantially all property owning subsidiaries of our Operating 
Partnership. As of June 30, 2005, we had outstanding borrowings of $20.0 million on our new revolving credit facility.  
  

Certain of our mortgage and other secured loans are guaranteed by our Operating Partnership and/or one of its wholly owned subsidiaries. 
  

On March 15, 2005, we repaid a portion of the Park Place II bridge loan with the net proceeds from a new $100.0 million, seven-year, fixed-rate, interest-only mortgage on 
Park Place II at 5.39%. 
  

In connection with our acquisition of San Diego Tech Center on April 6, 2005, we obtained a $133.0 million, ten-year, interest-only mortgage loan with a fixed rate of 5.70%. 
  

In connection with the refinancing of our credit facility and the repayment of a portion of the bridge loan at Park Place II, we wrote off approximately $1.2 million in 
unamortized deferred loan costs, which are presented as loss from early extinguishment of debt in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 
  

As a result of the dispositions of One Renaissance Square and Austin Research Park I and II, described in Note 10, we repaid the $42.0 million debt secured by Austin 
Research Park I and II and the $103.6 million debt secured by One Renaissance Square was assumed by the buyer. We used the net proceeds from the dispositions to pay down 
$35.0 million of our Term Loan. These early repayments have prefunded the remaining quarterly principal payments required under our Term Loan through maturity. 
  

The terms of our secured revolving credit facility and Term Loan include certain restrictions and covenants, which limit, among other things, the payment of dividends (as 
discussed below), the incurrence of additional indebtedness and liens and the disposition of assets. The terms also require compliance with financial ratios relating to the minimum 
amounts of tangible net worth, interest coverage, fixed charge coverage and maximum leverage, the maximum amount of unsecured indebtedness and certain investment 
limitations. The dividend restriction referred to above provides that, except to enable us to continue to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we will not during any 
four consecutive fiscal quarters make distributions with respect to common stock or other equity interests in an aggregate amount in excess of 95% of funds from operations, as 
defined, for such period, subject to certain other adjustments. At June 30, 2005, we were in compliance with all such covenants. 
  

Our separate assets and liabilities of the property specific subsidiaries are neither available to pay the debts of the consolidated entity nor constitute obligations of the 
consolidated entity, respectively.  
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We have agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to make an aggregate $591.8 million of indebtedness available for guarantee by Mr. Maguire, certain entities owned 

or controlled by Mr. Maguire and entities controlled by certain former senior executives of our Predecessor. As of June 30, 2005, $591.8 million of our debt is subject to such 
guarantees.  
  

In March 2005, we classified Glendale Center, 700 North Central, 801 North Brand, One Renaissance Square and Austin Research Park I and II as “held for sale,” upon our 
decision to market these properties for sale. As of June 30, 2005, we had sold One Renaissance Square and Austin Park I and II and we were marketing the Glendale properties 
for sale. In July 2005, we made the decision to either sell or joint venture the Glendale properties. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 144 
“Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” the results of operations for Glendale Center are reflected in the consolidated statement of operations as 
discontinued operations for all periods presented. The results of 700 North Central, 801 North Brand, One Renaissance Square and Austin Research Park I and II are included in 
discontinued operations from March 15, 2005, the date these properties were acquired as part of the CWP portfolio acquisition. Austin Research Park I and II and One 
Renaissance Square were sold on June 16, 2005 and June 29, 2005, respectively. No gain or loss on the sale of these properties is included in income from discontinued 
operations since the amount of the CWP portfolio purchase price allocated to these properties was equal to the sales value recorded upon sale. The major classes of assets and 
liabilities of real estate held for sale as of June 30, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):  
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MAGUIRE PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

6.    Discontinued Operations
 

ASSETS       
     Investments in real estate and related intangible assets   $ 228,579 
     Rents and other receivables     674 
     Deferred rents     2,530 
     Deferred loan costs, net     1,019 
     Other assets     175 
          Assets associated with real estate held for sale   $ 232,977 

       
LIABILITIES      
     Mortgages and other secured loans   $ 183,000 
     Accounts payable and other liabilities     11,939 
       Obligations associated with real estate held for sale   $ 194,939 
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The following table summarizes the income and expense components that comprise income from discontinued operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 

and June 30, 2004 (in thousands): 
  

Interest expense allocated to discontinued operations relates to interest on mortgage loans secured by the properties held for sale. No interest expense associated with our 
Term Loan or revolving line of credit was allocated to discontinued operations.  
  

We have adopted the Amended and Restated 2003 Incentive Award Plan of Maguire Properties, Inc., Maguire Properties Services, Inc. and Maguire Properties, L.P. (the 
“Incentive Award Plan”). The Incentive Award Plan provides for the grant to employees, directors and consultants of our company, the Operating Partnership and MP Services 
(and their respective subsidiaries) of stock options, restricted stock, dividend equivalents, stock appreciation rights and other incentive awards. We have reserved a total of 
4,816,861 shares of our common stock for issuance pursuant to the Incentive Award Plan, subject to certain adjustments as set forth in the plan. Of this amount, 659,211 shares 
of restricted stock were issued upon consummation of our IPO. The holders of these shares have full voting rights and will receive any dividends paid. Of the 659,211 shares of 
restricted stock issued, 343,421 shares were fully vested upon consummation of our IPO while 263,158 shares vest equally over five years (approximately 52,632 per year) and 
52,632 vest equally over three years (17,544 per year) on the anniversary date of our IPO. On June 27, 2004, the first anniversary of our IPO, we issued 141,414 shares of 
restricted stock. Of these 141,414 shares of restricted stock, 28,283 were fully vested upon issuance and the remainder will vest equally over the next four years on the 
anniversary date of our IPO. The holders of these shares have full voting rights and will receive any dividends paid.  
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Three Months 
Ended 

June 30,  

Six Months 
Ended 

June 30,  

     2005    2004    2005    2004  
                       
Revenue:                      
     Rental   $ 8,133  $ 2,441  $ 11,655  $ 4,851 
     Tenant reimbursements     1,349    705    2,291    1,662 
     Parking     881    511    1,459    1,005 
     Other     34    2    38    5 
Total revenues     10,397    3,659    15,443    7,523 
                   
Expenses:                  
     Rental property operating and maintenance     2,419    750    3,401    1,539 
     Real estate taxes     1,039    116    1,454    448 
     Parking     233    36    310    68 
     Depreciation and amortization     -    904    654    1,808 
     Interest     4,635    1,178    6,422    2,358 
     Loss on extinguishment of debt     672    -    672    - 
Total expenses     8,998    2,984    12,913    6,221 

                       
     Income from discontinued operations 
          before minority interests

 
  1,399    675    2,530    1,302 

     Minority interests attributable to discontinued 
          operations

 
  (268)   (138)   (489)   (267)

     Income from discontinued operations   $ 1,131  $ 537  $ 2,041  $ 1,035 

7.    Incentive Award Plan
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On March 31, 2005 we granted 9,218 shares of restricted stock at $23.88 (the price of one share of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange as of March 31, 
2005) to employees (excluding certain members of senior management) representing a one time grant under our Incentive Award Plan, that vest in four quarterly installments on 
March 31, 2005, June 30, 2005, September 30, 2005 and December 31, 2005. On March 31, 2005, we granted 9,909 shares of restricted stock at $23.88 to employees (excluding 
certain members of senior management) representing an annual grant under our Incentive Award Plan, that vest in three equal annual installments on December 31, 2005, 2006 
and 2007. On March 31, 2005 we also granted 9,741 shares of restricted stock at $23.88 to employees (excluding certain members of senior management) representing an annual 
grant under our Incentive Award Plan, which vests if our common stock closes at a price equal to or above 116% of the grant date stock price for 20 consecutive days (or 
$27.70). On July 21, 2005, these 9,741 shares of restricted stock vested.  
  

Effective April 1, 2005, our board of directors adopted a five-year compensation program for senior management. The program, which measures our performance over a 60-
month period (unless full vesting of the program occurs earlier) commencing April 1, 2005, provides for awards to be earned if the company attains certain performance 
measures based on annualized total shareholder returns on an absolute and relative basis.  
  

The amount payable for the absolute component of the senior management awards is based upon the amount by which the annualized total shareholder return over the period 
exceeds 9%. The amount payable for the relative component requires the company to obtain an annualized total shareholder return that is above the greater of our annualized 
total stock return over 9% or the NAREIT office index during the same period. Management is to receive a total award in an amount between 2.5% and 10% of the excess 
return over a base of $23.91 per share.  
  

The awards are to be paid in common stock, or at the company’s option, in cash; however it is our intent to settle with stock. The awards may vest in whole or in part on 
March 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010. In no case shall the total value of the awards exceed $50.0 million. We are accounting for the awards as equity classified awards under FAS 123
(R). The aggregate fair value of the awards at the date of the grant was approximately $7.0 million, which we are recording as compensation expense, on a straight-line basis, 
over the derived requisite service period of five years. For the three months ended June 30, 2005, the compensation expense related to the cost of the senior management 
compensation program was $334,000. 
  

A summary of our restricted stock as of June 30, 2005 is presented below: 
  

 
Upon consummation of our IPO, we granted options to certain officers and independent directors to purchase 530,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of 

$19.00 per share. 500,000 of these options vest on the third anniversary of our IPO. The remaining 30,000 options vest in three equal annual installments on June 27, 2004, 2005, 
and 2006. On June 3, 2004, we granted our independent directors 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

 
 

 Restricted Shares  

 Weighted 
AverageGrant-Date 

Fair Value  
             
Unvested restricted stock at January 1, 2005     358,745  $ 20.81 
Granted     28,868    23.88 
Vested     103,022    20.79 
Forfeited     -    - 
Unvested restricted stock at June 30, 2005     284,591  $ 21.13 
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options to purchase an aggregate of 20,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $24.38 in connection with their reelection to the board, which vest in three equal 
annual installments from the date of grant. On June 7, 2005, we granted our independent directors additional options to purchase an aggregate of 20,000 shares of common stock 
at an exercise price of $26.70 in connection with their reelection to the board, which vest in three equal, annual installments from the date of grant. 
  

A summary of our stock options as of June 30, 2005 is presented below: 
  

The weighted-average remaining contractual term for the 26,667 exercisable stock options was 8.3 years with a total intrinsic value of $213,000 as of June 30, 2005. The 
weighted-average remaining contractual term for the 570,000 outstanding stock options was 8.1 years with a total intrinsic value of $5.1 million as of June 30, 2005 and the total 
compensation cost not yet recognized is approximately $347,000, which will be recognized over the next three years. 
  

On March 4, 2005, we entered into a forward-starting interest rate swap agreement to hedge an anticipated ten-year, interest-only mortgage loan starting in October 2006 in 
connection with the $273.0 million refinancing of 777 Tower at a fixed rate of 5.84%. The notional amount of the swap is $261.9 million, effective in October 2006 with a strike 
rate of the forward-starting seven-year swap rate of 4.895%. 
  

On March 15, 2005, we entered into an interest rate cap agreement to limit the LIBOR portion of the interest rate on $62.9 million in mortgage and mezzanine loans secured 
by Wateridge Plaza to 4.75%. On March 15, 2005, we also entered into an interest rate cap agreement to limit the LIBOR portion of the interest rate on $42.0 million in mortgage 
and mezzanine loans secured by Austin Research Park I and II to 4.90%. Austin Research Park I and II was sold on June 16, 2005 and the interest rate cap was subsequently 
sold on July 26, 2005.  
  

As of June 30, 2005, we have no interest rate swap agreements to fix the current floating interest rate associated with our existing debt. The net amounts received or paid 
under our swaps were recognized as an adjustment to interest expense when such amounts were incurred or earned. Our objective in using interest rate swap agreements has 
been to effectively convert floating rate debt into fixed rate debt, and thereby limit our exposure to interest rate movements. 
  

SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended and interpreted by SFAS 138 and SFAS 149, establishes accounting and 
reporting standards for derivative instruments and for hedging activities. The accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative 
and the resulting designation. Derivatives used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular  
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Number

 of Options  
Weighted Average

Exercise Price  
             
Options outstanding at January 1, 2005     550,000  $ 19.20 
Granted (June 7, 2005)     20,000    26.70 
Exercised     -    - 
Forfeited     -    - 
Options outstanding as of June 30, 2005     570,000  $ 19.46 
           
Options exercisable as of June 30, 2005     26,667  $ 20.35 

8.    Derivative Instruments 
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risk, are considered fair value hedges. Derivatives used to hedge the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are 
considered cash flow hedges. 
  

For derivatives designated as fair value hedges, changes in the fair value of the derivative and the hedged item related to the hedged risk are recognized in earnings. For 
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is initially reported in other comprehensive income, outside of 
earnings and subsequently recognized as earnings when the hedged transaction affects earnings.  
  

Included in accumulated other comprehensive income as of June 30, 2005 was the fair value of the forward-starting interest rate swap outstanding, which was approximately 
$(8.7) million, net of minority interests of $(1.5) million and $8.0 million of deferred gain on the swaps that we sold in July 2004 and October 2003, net of minority interests of $1.4 
million. The deferred gains on sale of swaps will be recognized as a reduction of interest expense over the original lives of the swaps as required by SFAS 133. 
  

On March 15, 2005, we completed the acquisition of an office portfolio of ten properties and three separate land parcels from Fifth Street Properties, LLC (“FSP”), an 
affiliate of CommonWealth Partners, LLC (“CWP”), for $1.51 billion. We funded the purchase price through approximately $1,022.1 million in new mortgage and mezzanine 
financing, the assumption of loans aggregating $155.0 million from New York Life Insurance Company and Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company encumbering the 777 
Tower property and proceeds from our $450.0 million variable-rate Term Loan. The purchase price of the acquisition has been allocated on a preliminary basis to the assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed. We expect to finalize our purchase price allocation no later than 12 months from the date of acquisition. 
  

The acquired properties are located in the states of California, Arizona, Colorado and Texas. The portfolio consisted of properties totaling approximately 5.0 million rentable 
square feet and developable land that management believes can support approximately an additional 1.7 million square feet of office improvements, including incidental retail. The 
following table details the rentable square feet per property as of June 30, 2005: 
  

___________
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MAGUIRE PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

9.    Property Acquisitions
 

Properties   Location  

Rentable Area
(Square Feet)

801 North Brand (1)   Glendale, CA     279,950 

700 North Central (1)   Glendale, CA     143,334 

777 Tower   Los Angeles, CA     1,004,799 

Pacific Arts Plaza   Costa Mesa, CA     843,705 

Wateridge Plaza   San Diego, CA     265,927 

Mission City Corporate Center   San Diego, CA     190,747 

Regents Square I & II   La Jolla, CA     308,907 

One Renaissance Square (2)   Phoenix, AZ     491,623 

Wells Fargo Center   Denver, CO     1,201,597 

Austin Research Park I & II (3)   Austin, TX     271,882 

Subtotal         5,002,471 

(1) Property is held for sale.
   
(2) Property was sold on June 29, 2005. See Note 10 below for more information.
   
(3) Property was sold on June 16, 2005. See Note 10 below for more information.
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On April 6, 2005, we completed the acquisition of San Diego Tech Center, a 38-acre technological office and research and development campus located in Sorrento Mesa, 
San Diego County, California, from CalWest Industrial Holdings, LLC. The transaction was structured to qualify as a 1031 like-kind exchange to defer the capital gain on the 
potential sale of another of our properties. The purchase price of San Diego Tech Center was approximately $185.0 million, excluding acquisition costs, which was funded with a 
$7.0 million draw from our $100.0 million credit facility, $47.0 million cash on hand and a $133.0 million, ten -year mortgage financing with a fixed interest rate of 5.70%. The 
purchase price of the acquisition has been allocated on a preliminary basis to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. We expect to finalize our purchase price allocation no 
later than 12 months from the date of acquisition. 
  

On May 31, 2005, we completed the acquisition of the World Trade Center garage, located in downtown Los Angeles, California from Bank of America, N.A. The purchase 
price of the garage was approximately $20.0 million, excluding acquisition costs, which was funded with $13.0 million from our $100.0 million credit facility and $7.0 million cash 
on hand. The purchase price of the acquisition has been allocated on a preliminary basis to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. We expect to finalize our purchase 
price allocation no later than 12 months from the date of acquisition. 
  

On June 16, 2005, we sold Austin Research Park I and II, an office project featuring two four-story buildings totaling approximately 272,000 square feet located in Austin, 
Texas for $55.0 million to Equity Office Properties. In connection with the sale of the property, we entered into a lease with the buyer to lease 22,897 rentable square feet of 
vacant space at $14.08 per square feet through April 2007. We have the option to terminate this lease in the event that we sublease the space to a tenant or tenants for an equal 
amount of rent. Our total potential obligation of approximately $1.0 million under this lease was offset against the sales value recognized and is included in accounts payable and 
other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2005. 
  

On June 29, 2005, we sold One Renaissance Square, an approximate 492,000 square foot office building located in Phoenix, Arizona for $128.8 million to a subsidiary of 
Pauls Core Plus Venture, L.P, including the assumption of $103.6 million of outstanding mortgage debt. In connection with the sale, we entered into a lease obligation with the 
buyer to lease 37,220 rentable square feet of vacant space at $25.10 per square feet through March 2007. We have the option to terminate this lease in the event that we 
sublease the space to a tenant or tenants for an equal amount of rent. Our total potential obligation of approximately $1.6 million under this lease was offset against the sales 
value recognized and is included in accounts payable and other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2005.  
  

On July 29, 2005, we entered into a $458.0 million conditional loan commitment to refinance our Gas Company Tower and 808 South Olive garage properties in August 2006 
with a new $458.0 million, ten-year, fixed-rate, interest-only mortgage loan at 5.35% including the estimated cost of the forward commitment.   
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10.    Property Dispositions
 

11.    Subsequent Events
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The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this report. This report contains forward-looking 
statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. We caution investors that any forward-looking statements presented in this report, or that management may make 
orally or in writing from time to time, are based on management’s beliefs and assumptions made by, and information currently available to, management. When used, the words 
“anticipate,” “believe,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “estimate,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “result” and similar expressions, which do not relate solely to historical 
matters, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Such statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions and may be affected by known and unknown 
risks, trends, uncertainties and factors that are beyond our control. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove 
incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or projected. We caution you that while forward-looking statements reflect our good faith beliefs 
when we make them, they are not guarantees of future performance and are impacted by actual events when they occur after we make such statements. We expressly disclaim 
any responsibility to update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Accordingly, investors should use caution in relying 
on past forward-looking statements, which are based on results and trends at the time they were made, to anticipate future results or trends.  
  

Some of the risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking 
statements include, among others, the following: general risks affecting the real estate industry (including, without limitation, the inability to enter into or renew leases, dependence 
on tenants’ financial condition, and competition from other developers, owners and operators of real estate); risks associated with the availability and terms of financing and the 
use of debt to fund acquisitions and developments; failure to manage effectively our growth and expansion into new markets or to integrate acquisitions successfully; risks and 
uncertainties affecting property development and construction (including, without limitation, construction delays, cost overruns, inability to obtain necessary permits and public 
opposition to such activities); risks associated with downturns in the national and local economies, increases in interest rates and volatility in the securities markets; costs of 
compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and other similar laws; potential liability for uninsured losses and environmental contamination; risks associated with our 
company’s potential failure to qualify as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and possible adverse changes in tax and 
environmental laws; and risks associated with our dependence on key personnel whose continued service is not guaranteed. 
  

The risks included here are not exhaustive, and additional factors could adversely affect our business and financial performance, including factors and risks included in other 
sections of this report on Form 10-Q. In addition, we discussed a number of material risks in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004. Those risks 
continue to be relevant to our performance and financial condition. Moreover, we operate in a highly competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risk factors emerge 
from time to time and it is not possible for management to predict all such risk factors, nor can it assess the impact of all such risk factors on our company ’s business or the 
extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Given these risks and 
uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results.  
  

We are a full service real estate company, and we operate as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. We are the largest owner and operator of Class A office properties in 
the Los Angeles Central Business 
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District (“LACBD”) and have a significant presence in the John Wayne Airport submarket of Orange County and other major regional submarkets. We are primarily focused on 
owning and operating high-quality office properties in the high-barrier-to-entry Southern California market. Our office portfolio includes 21 properties located in nine submarkets 
in Los Angeles County, Orange County and San Diego County and one property in Denver Colorado. Our office properties are typically leased to high credit tenants for terms 
ranging from five to ten years. As of June 30, 2005, investment grade rated tenants generated 44.8% of the annualized rent of our office portfolio, and nationally recognized 
professional service firms generated an additional 23.5% of the annualized rent of our office portfolio. The weighted-average remaining lease term of our office portfolio tenants 
was approximately 5.5 years as of June 30, 2005. 
  

As of June 30, 2005, we own: 
  

Through Maguire Properties Services, Inc., we also earn customary fees for the management and leasing of: 
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� twenty-two office properties (69 buildings) with approximately 14.7 million net rentable square feet; 
   
� a 350-room hotel with 266,000 square feet;  
   
� total on- and off-site structured and surface parking of approximately 10.1 million square feet, which in total accommodates a capacity of more than 32,500 vehicles; 
   
� an undeveloped land parcel located at San Diego Tech Center that we believe can support up to 1.2 million net rentable square feet of office and retail development; 
   
� an undeveloped two-acre land parcel adjacent to Glendale Center that we believe can support up to 400,000 net rentable square feet of office and retail development;  
   
� an undeveloped land parcel located at Lantana Media Campus that we believe can support up to 194,000 net rentable square feet of office development; 
   
� an undeveloped land parcel located at Washington Mutual Irvine Campus that we believe can support up to 145,000 net rentable square feet of office development;  
   
� an undeveloped land parcel adjacent to 777 Tower that we believe can support up to 840,000 net rentable square feet of office development; 
   
� an undeveloped land parcel located in Pacific Arts Plaza that we believe can support up to 400,000 net rentable square feet of office development; 
   
� an undeveloped land parcel located in Wateridge Plaza that we believe can support up to 170,000 net rentable square feet of office development; 
   
� an undeveloped land parcel adjacent to 700 North Central that we believe can support up to 187,000 net rentable square feet of office development; 
   
� undeveloped land in the Mission City Corporate Center property that we believe can support up to 102,000 net rentable square feet of office development; and 
   
� undeveloped land, as well as a development agreement relating to Park Place II that we believe can support up to 4.6 million square feet of mixed-use improvements.  
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We hold options to acquire 1733 Ocean Avenue in Santa Monica, California, Western Asset Plaza in Pasadena, California and a 12.5% interest in Water’s Edge in West Los 
Angeles, California. We periodically evaluate market and property conditions to determine if conditions warrant consideration of the acquisition of the applicable properties. 
  

We receive income primarily from rental revenue (including tenant reimbursements) from our office properties, and to a lesser extent, from our hotel property and on- and 
off-site parking garages. We also receive income from providing management, leasing and real estate development services to our option and certain other properties.  
  

As of June 30, 2005, our office portfolio was 90.7% leased to 567 tenants. Approximately 3.2% of our leased square footage expires during the remainder of 2005 and 
approximately 7.9% of our leased square footage expires during 2006. Our leasing strategy for 2005 focuses on negotiating renewals for leases scheduled to expire during the 
year, and identifying new tenants or existing tenants seeking additional space to occupy the spaces for which we are unable to negotiate such renewals. Additionally, we will seek 
to lease currently vacant space in our office and retail properties with lower occupancy rates. The buildings we will be focusing on to increase occupancy include 700 N. Central 
(77.0% leased at June 30, 2005), 801 N. Brand (83.1% leased at June 30, 2005), US Bank Tower (83.6% leased at June 30, 2005), Wells Fargo Center - Denver (85.2% leased 
at June 30, 2005) and Wells Fargo Tower - Los Angeles (85.4% leased at June 30, 2005). 
  

Our corporate strategy is to own and develop high-quality office buildings concentrated in strong, supply-constrained markets. Our leasing strategy focuses on executing long-
term leases with creditworthy tenants. Factors we consider when we lease space include creditworthiness of the tenant, the length of the lease, the rental rates to be paid, costs 
of tenant concessions, operating costs and real estate taxes, vacancy and general economic factors. We also intend to proceed with new developments, when prudent, utilizing 
our existing developable land. 
  

The success of our leasing and development strategy will be dependent upon the general economic conditions in the United States and Southern California, and more 
specifically in the Los Angeles metropolitan, Orange County and San Diego County areas. We are optimistic that market conditions will continue to improve during 2005 as 
evidenced by reduced vacancy rates in 2004 and the first half of 2005. However, further improvement is contingent upon continued strong job growth in our markets.  
  

We believe that, on a portfolio basis, rental rates on leases expiring through the remainder of 2005 are at or below those currently being achieved in our markets. In light of 
strengthening markets, on a portfolio basis, we believe that our in-place rental rates scheduled to expire in 2006 and 2007 have contractual rental rates that are at or below market 
rental rates that will be prevailing at that time.  
  

We have completed the renovation of guest rooms at the Westin® Pasadena Hotel. The operating performance of the hotel was negatively impacted during the third quarter 
of 2004 due to out of service rooms and reduced demand caused by the renovation. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2004 and continuing into the first half of 2005, we 
experienced improvements in overall hotel operating performance as a result of these renovations. The renovation of the public space is expected to cost  
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� a 1.4 million square foot office, hotel and retail property located in the Dallas/Ft. Worth, Texas area (Solana); 
   
� a 91,000 square foot office building in Santa Monica, California (1733 Ocean Avenue); and 
   
� a 257,000 square foot office building in Pasadena, California (Western Asset Plaza). 
   

Factors Which May Influence Future Results of Operations
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approximately $4.2 million and should be completed by the third quarter of 2005. This is not expected to have a significant adverse impact to the hotel results during the remainder 
of 2005. 
  

We believe that new real estate investments will have a significant impact on our future results of operations, including the acquisition of CommonWealth ’s Fifth Street 
(“CWP”) portfolio on March 15, 2005. The CWP portfolio consisted of ten Class A office properties (24 buildings) totaling approximately 5.0 million square feet of net rentable 
office space located in Southern California, Texas, Arizona and Colorado as well as land and development agreements that we believe can support up to 1.7 million square feet of 
mixed-use improvements. Since our IPO, we have completed the acquisition of approximately $2.8 billion of office, retail and development properties, including the April 6, 2005 
acquisition of San Diego Tech Center, a 38-acre office campus including 647,000 square feet and developable land that we believe can support approximately 1.2 million square 
feet. During June 2005, we sold Austin Research Park I and II and One Renaissance Square for gross sales prices of $55.0 million and $128.8 million (including the assumption 
of $103.6 million in mortgage debt), respectively. We also intend to sell residential entitled land at Park Place during early 2006. The timing of dispositions and the price achieved 
will impact our ability to return to a leverage level more consistent with our long-term ratio objectives. 
  

We have receivables due from entities controlled by Robert F. Maguire III, our Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer, in the amount of $4.0 million and $3.9 million as of 
June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively. These receivables are for management fees, development fees, leasing commissions and other operating expenses 
reimbursements and were current as of June 30, 2005. On July 8, 2005, $2.5 million of these receivables were collected. 
  

In December 2004, the FASB issued FAS 123 (Revised) “Share-Based Payment” (“FAS 123(R)”). FAS 123(R) is a revision of FAS 123, as amended, Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation (“FAS 123”) and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. FAS 123(R) 
requires that all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, be recognized in the income statement based on their fair values.  
  

On April 1, 2005, we adopted FAS 123(R) using a modified prospective application, as permitted under FAS 123(R). Accordingly, prior period amounts have not been 
restated. Under this application, we are required to record compensation expense for all awards granted after the date of adoption and for the unvested portion of previously 
granted awards that remain outstanding as of the beginning of the fiscal year.  
  

Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), we applied APB 25 to account for our stock-based awards. Under APB 25, we generally only recorded stock-based compensation 
expense for restricted stock, which amounted to $0.2 million and $0.8 million in the three and six months ended June 30, 2004, respectively. Under the provisions of APB 25, we 
were not required to recognize compensation expense for the cost of stock options. Beginning in the second quarter of 2005, with the adoption of FAS 123(R), we recorded 
stock-based compensation expense for the cost of stock options, restricted stock and performance awards (together, “Equity Classified Awards”). Stock-based compensation 
expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 were $1.0 million and $1.6 million, respectively.  
  

See Note 2 and 7 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the adoption of FAS 123(R). 
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LACBD, California. There have been signs of improvement in market conditions in the LACBD submarket during the past eighteen months, as demonstrated by decreasing 
vacancy and increasing rental rates as well as steady tenant interest in our LACBD projects. These trends are expected to continue throughout 2005 and third-party reports show 
continued positive net absorption and slight increases in rental rates. On June 30, 2005, our LACBD portfolio was 90.0% leased, with approximately 723,600 square feet available 
for lease. Throughout the remainder of 2005, we will be focused on increasing occupancy in our LACBD properties, primarily re-leasing the 162,827 square foot space vacated 
by Wells Fargo Bank at the end of March (approximately 98,000 square feet is yet to be released). In addition, we will be focusing on re-leasing the following large blocks of 
currently leased spaces, which are expected to be available in 2006: a 260,498 square foot Los Angeles Unified School District ( “LAUSD”) lease in KPMG Tower, which 
expires in June 2006 and a 152,166 square foot Jones, Day, Reavis and Pogue lease in Gas Company Tower, which expires in November 2006. Jones, Day, Reavis and Pogue’s 
lease is above current market rates and LAUSD’s lease is below current market rental rates. 
  

Los Angeles County (excluding LACBD), California. Los Angeles County economic indicators are positive as the county’s Gross Metropolitan Product shows strong 
growth, which is projected to continue through 2005. In the past eighteen months, third-party reports have shown decreasing vacancy rates and positive net absorption in this 
submarket, the most significant rate of net absorption since the late 1990s. On June 30, 2005, our Los Angeles County (excluding LACBD) portfolio was 93.1% leased, with 
approximately 114,600 square feet available for lease. Our leasing percentages increased from 92.6% at March 31, 2005 primarily due to increased occupancy rates at 801 North 
Brand and 700 North Central, two properties acquired in Glendale with the CWP portfolio. It is our intention to sell or joint venture these two properties in the near term. 
  

Orange County, California. Positive trends continue in Orange County as third-party reports show decreasing vacancy rates and increasing rental rates with market 
conditions projected to tighten even further over the next year. On June 30, 2005, our Orange County portfolio was 93.2% leased, with approximately 222,800 square feet 
available for lease. Our primary leasing focus in this submarket will be to increase occupancy at our newly acquired property, Pacific Arts Plaza, which currently is 86.1% 
leased. 
  

San Diego County, California. San Diego County continues to perform well with continuing trends of strong absorption, decreasing vacancy and increasing upward 
pressure on rental rates. As of June 30, 2005, the overall vacancy rate for San Diego County was at its lowest since the third quarter of 2001 and the market is on pace to post 
demands for space at a five-year high. On June 30, 2005, our San Diego County portfolio was 90.7% leased, with approximately 130,800 square feet available for lease. As we 
just entered into the submarket as of March 15, 2005, we are focused on increasing occupancy at all four of our newly acquired properties.  
  

Our results of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2005 compared to the same period in 2004 were significantly affected by our acquisitions in both years. As a 
result, our results are not comparable from period to period. Therefore, in the table below, we have also separately presented the results of our “Same Properties Portfolio.” 
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Our Same Properties Portfolio includes the results of Gas Company Tower, Plaza Las Fuentes, the Westin® Pasadena Hotel, 808 South Olive Garage, KPMG Tower, US 
Bank Tower, Wells Fargo Tower - Los Angeles, Cerritos Corporate Center Phases I and II, One California Plaza, Glendale Center and our property management, leasing and 
development operations. We owned each of these for the entire period presented in both years. The results of Glendale Center are included in income from discontinued 
operations as the property is held for sale. 
  

Our “Total Portfolio” amounts also include the results of Park Place I from April 14, 2004, Park Place II from July 23, 2004, Washington Mutual Irvine Campus from 
November 22, 2004, Lantana Media Campus from December 16, 2004 and San Diego Tech Center from April 6, 2005, the dates we acquired such properties. In addition, our 
Total Portfolio amounts include the results of the properties acquired as part of the CWP portfolio acquisition as of March 15, 2005, which are 777 Tower, Pacific Arts Plaza, 
Mission City Corporate Center, Regents Square I and II, Wateridge Plaza and Wells Fargo Center (Denver, Colorado). These properties together with Austin Research Park I 
and II (sold on June 16, 2005), One Renaissance Square (sold on June 29, 2005), 801 North Brand and 700 North Central, which are included in income from discontinued 
operations as the latter two properties are held for sale as of June 30, 2005, are collectively referred to as the “Acquisition Properties.” 
  

Consolidated Statements of Operations Information
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
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                  Same Properties   Acquisition Properties   Total Portfolio

                 

Three 
Months 
Ended   Increase/   %  

Three 
Months 
Ended  

Three 
Months 
Ended   Increase/   %

                  6/30/05   6/30/04   Decrease   Change   6/30/05   6/30/04   6/30/05   6/30/04   Decrease   Change
                                                       
Revenues:                                        

     Rental   $ 36,252    $ 36,756    $ (504)     -1.4%  $ 38,359    $ 8,088    $ 74,611    $ 44,844    $ 29,767      66.4%

     Tenant reimbursements     17,423      17,938      (515)     -2.9%    10,370      150      27,793      18,088      9,705      53.7%

     Hotel operations     5,763      5,285      478      9.0%       -         -      5,763      5,285      478      9.0%

     Parking     7,511      7,315      196      2.7%    3,137      498      10,648      7,813      2,835      36.3%

     Management, leasing                                                                                           

          and development services                                                                                           

          to affiliates     1,001      956         45      4.7%       -         -      1,001      956         45      4.7%

     Interest and other     943      505      438      86.7%    176         9      1,119      514      605      117.7%

          Total revenues     68,893      68,755      138      0.2%    52,042      8,745      120,935      77,500      43,435      56.0%

                                                                                                         

Expenses:                                                                                          

     Rental property operating                                                                                          

          and maintenance     13,237      13,499      (262)     -1.9%    11,357      2,963      24,594      16,462      8,132      49.4%

     Hotel operating and maintenance     3,821      3,574      247      6.9%       -         -      3,821      3,574      247      6.9%

     Real estate taxes     5,097      5,094         3      0.1%    5,489      322      10,586      5,416      5,170      95.5%

     Parking      1,964      1,904         60      3.2%    1,026      284      2,990      2,188      802      36.7%

     General and administrative and other     5,293      5,396      (103)     -1.9%       -         -      5,293      5,396      (103)     -1.9%

     Ground lease     666      666         -      0.0%       -         -      666      666         -      0.0%

     Depreciation and amortization     18,438      16,876      1,562      9.3%    24,816      3,263      43,254      20,139      23,115      114.8%

     Interest     14,369      12,958      1,411      10.9%    26,458      1,176      40,827      14,134      26,693      188.9%

     Loss from early extinguishment of debt        -         -         -      N/A      442         -      442         -      442      N/A 

          Total expenses     62,885      59,967      2,918      4.9%    69,588      8,008      132,473      67,975      64,498      94.9%

          Income (loss) from continuing                                                                                          

               operations before minority                                                                                          

               interests     6,008      8,788      (2,780)     -31.6%    (17,546)     737      (11,538)     9,525      (21,063)    -221.1%

     Minority interests attributable to                                                                                          

           continuing operations                                                           3,118      (976)     4,094     -419.5%

     Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net                                                                                          

          of minority interests     1,312      537      775      144.3%    (181)        -      1,131      537      594      110.6%

          Net income (loss)   $ 7,320    $ 9,325    $ (2,005)     -21.5%  $ (17,727)   $ 737    $ (7,289)   $ 9,086    $ (16,375)    -180.2%
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Total portfolio rental revenue increased by $29.8 million, or 66.4%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties. Rental revenue for our Same Properties Portfolio decreased 
by $0.5 million, or 1.4%, primarily due to the March 2005 expiration of a 162,827 square foot lease at US Bank Tower. This lease expiration was partially offset by the 
subsequent leasing of a portion of the vacated US Bank Tower space. 
  

Total portfolio tenant reimbursement revenue increased $9.7 million, or 53.7%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties. 
  

Tenant reimbursement revenue for our Same Properties Portfolio decreased $0.5 million, or 2.9%, primarily due to the March 2005 lease expiration of a 162,827 square foot 
lease at US Bank Tower and to a lesser extent, reduced rental property and operating expenses primarily as a result of lower insurance premiums. 
  

Hotel operations revenue increased $0.5 million, or 9.0%, due to increases in both our occupancy rates and our average daily rate. Average occupancy increased to 81.8% 
from 81.2%, the average daily room rate increased to $152.96, or 11.9%, from $136.74 and revenue per available room increased to $125.15, or 12.7%, from $111.03, all 
compared to the prior year period, primarily as a result of the room renovations completed during the third quarter of 2004. 
  

The 6.9% increase in hotel operating and maintenance expenses was primarily due to increased occupancy. 
  

Total portfolio parking revenue increased $2.8 million, or 36.3%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties. Parking revenue for the Same Properties Portfolio increased $0.2 
million, or 2.7%, primarily due to portfolio-wide increases in contractual parking rates in July 2004 offset by decreased parking revenue due to the March 2005 lease expiration of 
a 162,827 square foot lease at US Bank Tower. 
  

Total portfolio management, leasing and development services revenue to affiliates was relatively flat between periods. Current year results include a $756,000 leasing 
commission (which represents the first half installment of a $1.5 million leasing commission) earned at Solana, while prior results include $695,000 in leasing commissions earned 
primarily at Western Asset Plaza. 
  

Total portfolio interest and other revenue increased $0.6 million, or 117.7%, primarily due to a $0.3 million lease termination fee received from a tenant in Wells Fargo Tower 
- Los Angeles during the three months ended June 30, 2005. No comparable amount was received in the prior period. In addition, there was a small increase in interest income. 
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Total portfolio rental property operating and maintenance expense increased by $8.1 million, or 49.4%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties. 
  

Rental property operating and maintenance expense for our Same Properties Portfolio decreased $0.3 million, or 1.9%, primarily due to reductions in insurance premiums and 
lower property employee headcount. Insurance premiums, which had increased significantly after the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, have been on the decline. We also 
restructured our property and liability insurance programs portfolio-wide in August 2004, which has continued to generate additional savings.  
  

Total portfolio real estate taxes increased $5.2 million, or 95.5%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties. 
  

Total portfolio parking expenses increased $0.8 million, or 36.7%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties.  
  

Total portfolio general and administrative and other expense decreased $0.1 million, or 1.9%, primarily due to non-recurring severance and relocation costs incurred during 
the three months ended June 30, 2004 offset in 2005 by additional corporate employees hired and related costs as a result of the growth in our infrastructure due to acquisitions 
made since our IPO and increased stock compensation costs resulting from awards made during the three months ended June 30, 2005 and implementation of FAS 123(R).  
  

Total portfolio ground lease expense remained flat during the three months ended June 30, 2005 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2004. 
  

Total portfolio depreciation and amortization expense increased $23.1 million, or 114.8%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties as well as a $1.6 million increase in our 
Same Properties Portfolio due to increased tenant improvements, lease commissions and other deferred lease costs. 
  

Total portfolio interest expense increased $26.7 million, or 188.9%, primarily due to financing costs associated with the Acquisition Properties and a $1.4 million increase 
related to the Same Properties Portfolio. 
  

The $1.4 million, or 10.9%, increase in the Same Properties Portfolio is primarily related to the KPMG Tower mortgage, which was refinanced with a larger loan at a fixed 
rate of 5.14% in November 2004 compared to a variable rate that averaged 2.98% in the three months ended June 30, 2004, and an increase in LIBOR rates on the $280.0 
million Gas Company Tower and 808 South Olive variable-rate loans, partially offset by the $0.8 million amortization of deferred gain from the sale of the $250.0 million  
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fixed-rate debt swap on our Gas Company Tower and 808 South Olive debt during the three months ended June 30, 2005 with no comparable amount in the three months ended 
June 30, 2004. 
  

In connection with financing the CWP portfolio acquisition, we obtained approximately $1,032.2 million in fixed-rate mortgage debt with a weighted average rate of 5.19% 
(including the assumption of the $115.0 million 777 Tower fixed-rate mortgage), obtained $104.9 million in new variable-rate mortgage debt at a weighted average rate of LIBOR 
+ 2.15%, assumed the $40.0 million 777 Tower variable-rate mortgage at LIBOR plus 0.90% and obtained a variable-rate term loan at LIBOR plus 1.75%, all on March 15, 
2005.  
  

During the three months ended June 30, 2005, we repaid $9.0 million of principal on the fixed -rate debt secured by Wells Fargo Center, located in Denver, Colorado. In 
connection with the sales of Austin Research Park I and II and One Renaissance Square, we repaid $42.0 million of debt secured by Austin Research Park I and II, and $103.6 
million of debt secured by One Renaissance Square was assumed by the buyer. With the net proceeds from the sales, we repaid $35.0 million of principal on the Term Loan. In 
addition, we obtained $133.0 million in fixed-rate, interest-only mortgage financing at an interest rate of 5.70% and we borrowed $20.0 million on our secured line of credit during 
the quarter in connection with the acquisitions of San Diego Tech Center and the World Trade Center garage on April 6, 2005 and May 31, 2005, respectively. 
  

In connection with the acquisitions of Park Place I on April 14, 2004, Washington Mutual Irvine Campus on November 22, 2004 and Lantana Media Campus on December 
16, 2004, we obtained or refinanced $374.0 million in fixed-rate mortgage financing at a weighted average rate of 5.29%. In connection with the acquisition of Park Place II on 
July 23, 2004, we obtained a $140.0 million bridge loan at LIBOR plus 1.75 (4.62% at June 30, 2005). Effective March 15, 2005, we repaid $96.0 million of the Park Place II 
bridge loan with the net proceeds from a $100.0 million, fixed-rate mortgage at 5.39%. 
  

Total portfolio loss on extinguishment of debt was due to the write-off of unamortized loan costs related to the $35.0 million pay down of our Term Loan.  
  

Minority interests attributable to loss from continuing operations was $3.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2005 compared to minority interests attributable to 
income from continuing operations of $1.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004, primarily due to a $21.1 million reduction in income from continuing operations.  
  

Total portfolio income from discontinued operations, net of minority interests increased $0.6 million, or 110.6%, primarily due to the cessation of depreciation expense on 
Glendale Center in March 2005, upon classification of Glendale Center as held for sale. Additionally, included in income from discontinued operations, net of minority interest, was 
a loss on extinguishment of debt of $0.7 million relating to the write -off of unamortized loan costs related to the debt secured by Austin Research Park I and II and One 
Renaissance Square, which were sold on June 16, 2005 and June 29, 2005, respectively. 
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Our results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2005 compared to the same period in 2004 were significantly affected by our acquisitions in both years. As a 
result, our results are not comparable from period to period. Therefore, in the table below, we have also separately presented the results of our “Same Properties Portfolio.” 
  

Our Same Properties Portfolio includes the results of Gas Company Tower, Plaza Las Fuentes, the Westin® Pasadena Hotel, 808 South Olive Garage, KPMG Tower, US 
Bank Tower, Wells Fargo Tower - Los Angeles, Cerritos Corporate Center Phases I and II, One California Plaza, Glendale Center and our property management, leasing and 
development operations. We owned each of these for the entire period presented in both years. The results of Glendale Center are included in income from discontinued 
operations as the property is held for sale. 
  

Our “Total Portfolio” amounts include the results of Park Place I from April 14, 2004, Park Place II from July 23, 2004, Washington Mutual Irvine Campus from November 
22, 2004, Lantana Media Campus from December 16, 2004 and San Diego Tech Center from April 6, 2005, the dates we acquired such properties. In addition, our Total Portfolio 
amounts include the results of the properties acquired as part of the CWP portfolio acquisition as of March 15, 2005, which are 777 Tower, Pacific Arts Plaza, Mission City 
Corporate Center, Regents Square I and II, Wateridge Plaza and Wells Fargo Center (Denver, Colorado). These properties together with Austin Research Park I and II (sold on 
June 16, 2005), One Renaissance Square (sold on June 29, 2005), 801 North Brand and 700 North Central, which are included in income from discontinued operations as the 
latter two properties are held for sale as of June 30, 2005, are collectively referred to as the “Acquisition Properties.” 
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Consolidated Statements of Operations Information
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

 
 

Total portfolio rental revenue increased by $49.0 million, or 60.3%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties. Rental revenue for our Same Properties Portfolio was 
relatively flat between periods primarily due to the March 2005 expiration of a 162,827 square foot lease at US Bank Tower, offset by revenue recognized as a result of 
subsequent leasing of the vacated US Bank Tower space and slight increases in occupancy in our LACBD portfolio.  
  

Total portfolio tenant reimbursement revenue increased $11.6 million, or 31.4%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties. 
  

Tenant reimbursement revenue for our Same Properties Portfolio decreased $1.9 million, or 5.1%, primarily due to rental property and operating expense decreases as a 
result of lower insurance premiums and more efficient operations and to a lesser extent, the loss of revenue from a significant tenant at US Bank Tower whose lease expired in 
March 2005.  
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                Same Properties   Acquisition Properties   Total Portfolio

               

Six 
Months 
Ended   Increase/   %  

Six
Months 

Ended  

Six
Months 

Ended   Increase/   %

                6/30/05   6/30/04   Decrease   Change   6/30/05   6/30/04   6/30/05   6/30/04   Decrease   Change
                                                     
Revenues:                                      

     Rental $ 73,274    $ 73,187    $    87      0.1%  $ 56,983    $ 8,088    $ 130,257    $ 81,275    $ 48,982      60.3%

     Tenant reimbursements   34,980      36,841      (1,861)     -5.1%    13,634      150      48,614      36,991      11,623      31.4%

     Hotel operations   11,678      10,484      1,194      11.4%       -         -      11,678      10,484      1,194      11.4%

     Parking   15,225      14,464      761      5.3%    4,490      498      19,715      14,962      4,753      31.8%

     Management, leasing                                                                                         

          and development services                                                                                         

          to affiliates   1,262      1,653      (391)     -23.7%       -         -      1,262      1,653      (391)     -23.7%

     Interest and other   1,634      1,353      281      20.8%    197         9      1,831      1,362      469      34.4%

          Total revenues   138,053      137,982         71      0.1%    75,304      8,745      213,357      146,727      66,630      45.4%

                                                                                                       

Expenses:                                                                                        

     Rental property operating                                                                                        

          and maintenance   26,238      28,005      (1,767)     -6.3%    16,923      2,963      43,161      30,968      12,193      39.4%

     Hotel operating and maintenance   7,665      7,285      380      5.2%       -         -      7,665      7,285      380      5.2%

     Real estate taxes   10,265      10,082      183      1.8%    8,089      322      18,354      10,404      7,950      76.4%

     Parking    3,975      3,951         24      0.6%    1,610      284      5,585      4,235      1,350      31.9%

     General and administrative and other   10,951      9,173      1,778      19.4%       -         -      10,951      9,173      1,778      19.4%

     Ground lease   1,332      1,325         7      0.5%       -         -      1,332      1,325         7      0.5%

     Depreciation and amortization   36,414      33,054      3,360      10.2%    34,611      3,263      71,025      36,317      34,708      95.6%

     Interest   28,719      25,888      2,831      10.9%    36,053      1,176      64,772      27,064      37,708      139.3%

     Loss from early extinguishment of debt   1,102         -      1,102      N/A      548         -      1,650         -      1,650      N/A 

          Total expenses   126,661      118,763      7,898      6.7%    97,834      8,008      224,495      126,771      97,724      77.1%

          Income (loss) from continuing                                                                                        

               operations before minority                                                                                        

               interests   11,392      19,219      (7,827)     -40.7%    (22,530)     737      (11,138)     19,956      (31,094)     -155.8%

     Minority interests attributable to                                                                                        

           continuing operations                                                         3,971      (2,376)     6,347      -267.1%

     Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net                                                                                        

          of minority interests   2,116      1,035      1,081      104.4%    (75)        -      2,041      1,035      1,006      97.2%

          Net income (loss) $ 13,508    $ 20,254    $ (6,746)     -33.3%  $ (22,605)   $ 737    $ (5,126)   $ 18,615    $ (23,741)     -127.5%
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Tenant Reimbursements
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Hotel operations revenue increased $1.2 million, or 11.4%, due to increases in both our occupancy rates and our average daily rate. Average occupancy increased to 83.3% 
from 79.9%, the average daily room rate increased to $151.58, or 9.6%, from $138.26 and revenue per available room increased to $126.32, or 14.4%, from $110.46, all 
compared to the prior year, primarily as a result of the room renovations completed during the third quarter of 2004. 
  

The 5.2% increase in hotel operating and maintenance expenses was primarily due to increased occupancy. 
  

Total portfolio parking revenue increased $4.8 million, or 31.8%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties, and to a lesser extent, an increase in occupancy and contractual 
parking rates across our portfolio in July 2004 offset by the loss of revenue from a significant tenant at US Bank Tower whose lease expired in March 2005. 
  

Total portfolio management, leasing and development services revenue to affiliates decreased $0.4 million, or 23.7%, primarily due to $0.5 million in development fees earned 
from Western Asset Plaza during the six months ended June 30, 2004, with no comparable amounts earned in the current period. 
  

Total portfolio interest and other revenue increased $0.5 million, or 34.4%. Interest and other income for the Same Properties portfolio increased $0.3 million, or 20.8%. The 
increase is primarily due to interest earned on a restricted cash deposit that secures the Washington Mutual Secured loan with no comparable amounts in the prior year period. 
This was partially offset by a decrease in interest earned in 2005 due to the full investment of our 2004 preferred offering proceeds, which were invested in interest bearing 
accounts in the prior year. 
  

Total portfolio rental property operating and maintenance expense increased by $12.2 million, or 39.4%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties. 
  

Rental property operating and maintenance expense for our Same Properties Portfolio decreased $1.8 million, or 6.3%, primarily due to lower insurance premiums and lower 
property employee headcount. Insurance premiums, which had increased significantly after the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, have been on the decline. We also 
restructured our property and liability insurance programs portfolio-wide in August 2004, which has continued to generate additional savings. In addition, we have seen portfolio-
wide decreases in expenses due to more efficient operations and economies of scale.  
  

Total portfolio real estate taxes increased $8.0 million, or 76.4%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties. 
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Total portfolio parking expenses increased $1.4 million, or 31.9%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties.  
  

Total portfolio general and administrative and other expense increased $1.8 million, or 19.4%, as a result of the growth in our business since our IPO.  
  

We have added staff and infrastructure since our IPO to accommodate the $2.6 billion in net acquisitions completed since November 2003 (representing an 8.5 million 
increase in square feet under management, or approximately 140% since our IPO), resulting in increased compensation and administrative costs. We have also incurred 
significantly higher consulting and professional fees associated with corporate governance (mainly Sarbanes-Oxley compliance), with no comparable activities in the prior period. 
These increased costs were partially offset by severance costs incurred during the six months ended June 30, 2004, with no comparable activities in the current period. 
  

Total portfolio ground lease expense remained flat during the six months ended June 30, 2005 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2004. 
  

Total portfolio depreciation and amortization expense increased $34.7 million, or 95.6%, primarily due to the Acquisition Properties as well as a $3.4 million increase in our 
Same Properties Portfolio due to increased tenant improvements, lease commissions and other deferred lease costs. 
  

Total portfolio interest expense increased $37.7 million, or 139.3%, primarily due to financing costs associated with the Acquisition Properties and a $2.8 million increase 
related to the Same Properties Portfolio. 
  

The $2.8 million, or 10.9%, increase in the Same Properties Portfolio is primarily related to the KPMG Tower mortgage, which was refinanced with a larger loan at a fixed 
rate of 5.14% in November 2004 compared to a variable rate that averaged 2.98% in the six months ended June 30, 2004, and an increase in LIBOR rates on the $280.0 million 
Gas Company Tower and 808 South Olive variable-rate loans, offset by the $1.6 million amortization of deferred gain from the sale of the $250.0 million fixed-rate debt swap on 
our Gas Company Tower and 808 South Olive debt during the six months ended June 30, 2005 with no comparable amount in the six months ended June 30, 2004. 
  

In connection with financing the CWP portfolio acquisition, we obtained approximately $1,032.2 million in fixed-rate mortgage debt with a weighted average rate of 5.19% 
(including the assumption of the $115.0 million, 777 Tower fixed-rate mortgage), obtained $104.9 million in new variable-rate mortgage debt at a weighted average rate of LIBOR 
+ 2.15%, assumed the $40.0 million, 777 Tower variable-rate mortgage at LIBOR plus 0.90% and obtained a variable-rate term loan at LIBOR plus 1.75%, all on March 15, 
2005.  
  

During the six months ended June 30, 2005, we repaid $9.0 million of principal on the fixed -rate debt secured by Wells Fargo Center, located in Denver, Colorado. In 
connection with the sales of Austin Research Park I and II and One Renaissance Square, we repaid $42.0 million of debt secured by Austin  
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Research Park I and II while $103.6 million of debt secured by One Renaissance Square was assumed by the buyer. With the net sale proceeds, we repaid $35.0 million of the 
principal on the Term Loan. In addition, we obtained $133.0 million in fixed-rate, interest-only mortgage financing at an interest rate of 5.70% and we borrowed $20.0 million on 
our secured line of credit during 2005 in connection with the acquisitions of San Diego Tech Center and the World Trade Center garage on April 6, 2005 and on May 31, 2005, 
respectively.  
  

In connection with the acquisitions of Park Place I on April 14, 2004, Washington Mutual Irvine Campus on November 22, 2004 and Lantana Media Campus on December 
16, 2004, we obtained or refinanced $374.0 million in fixed-rate mortgage financing at a weighted average rate of 5.29%. In connection with the acquisition of Park Place II on 
July 23, 2004, we obtained a $140.0 million bridge loan at LIBOR plus 1.75 (4.62% at June 30, 2005). Effective March 15, 2005, we repaid $96.0 million of the Park Place II 
bridge loan with the net proceeds from a $100.0 million, fixed-rate mortgage at 5.39%. 
  

Total portfolio loss on extinguishment of debt relates to the write-off of unamortized loan costs related to the March 2005 replacement of our secured credit facility, the 
partial repayment of debt secured by Park Place II, one of our Acquisition Properties, on March 15, 2005 and the $35.0 million pay down of our Term Loan in June 2005.  
  

Minority interests attributable to loss from continuing operations was $4.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005 compared to minority interests attributable to income 
from continuing operations of $2.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004, primarily due to a $31.1 million reduction in income from continuing operations. In addition, we 
incurred a full six months of preferred dividends for the six months ended June 30, 2005 compared to a partial period of dividends in the corresponding period in 2004 since our 
preferred stock offering was completed on January 23, 2004. Preferred stock dividends are deductions from income from continuing operations in the minority interests 
calculations. 
  

Total portfolio income from discontinued operations increased $1.0 million, or 97.2%, primarily due to the cessation of depreciation expense on Glendale Center in March 
2005, upon classification of Glendale Center as held for sale. Additionally, included in income from discontinued operations, net of minority interest, was a loss on extinguishment 
of debt of $0.7 million relating to the write-off of unamortized loan costs related to the debt secured by Austin Research Park I and II and One Renaissance Square, which were 
sold on June 16, 2005 and June 29, 2005, respectively.  
  

We calculate funds from operations (“FFO”) as defined by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”). FFO represents net income (loss) 
(computed in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”)), excluding gains (or losses) from sales of property, extraordinary items, real estate 
related depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of deferred financing costs) and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures.  
  

Management uses FFO as a supplemental performance measure because, in excluding real estate related depreciation and amortization, gains (or losses) from property 
dispositions and extraordinary items, it provides a performance measure that, when compared year over year, captures trends in occupancy rates, rental rates and operating 
costs. We also believe that, as a widely recognized measure of  
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the performance of REITs, FFO will be used by investors as a basis to compare our operating performance with that of other REITs.  
  

However, because FFO excludes depreciation and amortization and captures neither the changes in the value of our properties that result from use or market conditions nor 
the level of capital expenditures and leasing commissions necessary to maintain the operating performance of our properties, all of which have real economic effect and could 
materially impact our results of operations, the utility of FFO as a measure of our performance is limited. Other REITs may not calculate FFO in accordance with the NAREIT 
definition and, accordingly, our FFO may not be comparable to such other REITs’ FFO. Accordingly, FFO should be considered only as a supplement to net income as a measure 
of our performance. FFO should not be used as a measure of our liquidity, nor is it indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to pay dividends or 
make distributions. FFO also should not be used as a supplement to or substitute for cash flow from operating activities (computed in accordance with GAAP).  
  

The following table reconciles our company’s FFO to our company’s net (loss) income (in thousands except for per share amounts): 
  

________

In connection with financing the CWP Portfolio acquisition, we obtained approximately $1,032.2 million in fixed-rate mortgage debt with a weighted average rate of 5.19% 
(including the assumption of the $115.0 million 777 Tower fixed-rate mortgage), obtained $104.9 million in new variable-rate mortgage debt at LIBOR plus 2.0% to 2.25% and 
assumed the $40.0 million 777 Tower variable-rate 
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Three Months 
Ended

June 30,  

Six Months 
Ended

June 30,

  2005   2004   2005   2004
Reconciliation of net income (loss) to funds 
     from operations:              
     Net income (loss) available to common 
          shareholders $ (12,055)   $4,320  $ (14,658)   $ 10,248 
          Adjustments:                                 
               Minority interests   (2,850)   1,114    (3,482)     2,643 
               Real estate depreciation and amortization   43,155    20,078    70,827      36,165 
               Real estate depreciation and amortization                                 
                  included in discontinued operations      -    904    654      1,808 
     Funds from operations available to common 
          shareholders and Unit Holders (FFO) $ 28,250    $26,416  $ 53,341    $ 50,864 
                                  
     Company share of FFO (1) $ 22,847    $21,000  $ 43,032    $ 40,435 
                                  
     FFO per share - basic and diluted $ 0.53  (2) $0.50  $ 1.00  (3) $ 0.96 
                                  
     FFO per share - diluted $ 0.53    $0.49  $ 1.00    $ 0.95 

(1)  Based on a weighted average interest in our operating partnership for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004 of 80.9%, 80.7%, 79.5% and 79.5%, respectively.  
   
(2)  Includes $1,114 ($0.02 per share) loss from early extinguishment of debt. 
   
(3) Includes $2,322 ($0.04 per share) loss from early extinguishment of debt. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
Available Borrowings, Cash Balances and Capital Resources
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mortgage at LIBOR plus 0.91%. To fund a portion of the CWP Portfolio acquisition, Maguire Properties Holdings I, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Operating 
Partnership, completed a $450.0 million, five-year financing (the “Term Loan”) with Credit Suisse First Boston (“CSFB”). The Term Loan has a variable interest rate of LIBOR 
plus 1.75% and requires quarterly principal payments of $1.125 million beginning June 30, 2005 through December 31, 2009, with the remaining outstanding principal balance due 
at maturity on March 15, 2010. The Term Loan is guaranteed by the Operating Partnership. 
  

On June 16, 2005, we sold Austin Research Park I and II, an office project featuring two four-story buildings totaling approximately 272,000 square feet located in Austin, 
Texas for approximately $55.0 million to Equity Office Properties. We used the proceeds from the sale to pay off $42.0 million in mortgage debt and $11.0 million in Term Loan 
debt. On June 29, 2005, we sold One Renaissance Square, an approximately 492,000 square foot office building located in Phoenix, Arizona for $128.8 million to a subsidiary of 
Pauls Core Plus Venture, L.P, including the assumption of $103.6 million outstanding mortgage debt. We used the net proceeds from the sale to pay off $24.0 million in Term 
Loan debt. Both assets were acquired on March 15, 2005 as part of the $1.5 billion CWP office portfolio acquisition and had been held for sale from the date of acquisition. The 
prepayments of our Term Loan resulted in the pre-funding of the remaining required quarterly principal payments through maturity. 
  
  In connection with the issuance of the Term Loan, CSFB originated a new $100.0 million secured revolving credit facility, which replaces our prior $100.0 million revolving 
credit facility. The new revolving credit facility currently bears interest at a variable rate of LIBOR plus 1.75%, or CSFB’s base rate plus 0.75%, and matures on March 15, 
2009. The interest rate margin on the revolving credit facility may be increased or decreased by 0.25% based on our consolidated leverage ratio. The new revolving credit facility 
is guaranteed by Maguire Properties Holdings I, LLC. In addition, the Term Loan and new revolving credit facility are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries, and are secured by 
deeds of trust on Cerritos Corporate Center I and II, Plaza Las Fuentes, the WestinÒ Pasadena Hotel, 755 South Figueroa, 200 Burchett and Pacific Arts Plaza West properties, 
the undeveloped land at Washington Mutual Irvine Campus and pledges of equity in substantially all property owning subsidiaries of our Operating Partnership. As of June 30, 
2005, we had borrowings of $20.0 million outstanding on our new revolving credit facility.  
  

On April 6, 2005, we funded the $185.0 million acquisition of San Diego Tech Center with $7.0 million from our $100.0 million revolving credit facility, $47.0 million cash on 
hand and a $133.0 million, ten-year, interest-only mortgage loan with a fixed interest rate of 5.70%. 
  

Certain of our mortgage and other secured loans are guaranteed by our Operating Partnership and/or one of its wholly owned subsidiaries. 
  

As of June 30, 2005, we had $166.7 million in cash and cash equivalents, including $127.6 million in restricted cash, compared to $135.6 million in cash and cash equivalents 
including $71.1 million in restricted cash, as of December 31, 2004. Restricted cash primarily consists of interest-bearing cash deposits and cash impound accounts for real estate 
taxes and insurance and leasing reserves as required by several of our mortgage loans, along with $45.2 million that secures the Washington Mutual other secured loan. 
  

In the near term, we expect to sell or joint venture less strategically significant assets including 700 North Central, 801 North Brand and Glendale Center, all located in 
Glendale, California. 
  

Our consolidated debt (including debt on assets held for sale) is $3.38 billion as of June 30, 2005. Our total debt to market capitalization is approximately 65.6% (based on the 
share price of one common stock at $28.34 as of June 30, 2005 as listed on the New York Stock Exchange). 
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Our separate assets and liabilities of the property specific subsidiaries are neither available to pay the debts of the consolidated entity nor constitute obligations of the consolidated 
entity, respectively.  
  

We plan to take steps to achieve a debt to total market capitalization level of less than 60% as quickly and as prudently as possible. We are also focused on achieving and 
maintaining a fixed charge coverage ratio at or above 2.0. Our primary strategy to achieve these objectives, as well as repay our Term Loan, will be to utilize a combination of 
various liquidity sources available to the company including:  
  

We expect to finance our operations, non-acquisition-related capital expenditures and long-term indebtedness repayment obligations primarily with internally generated cash 
flow and borrowings under the new revolving credit facility. We believe these sources of liquidity will be sufficient to fund our short -term liquidity needs over the next twelve 
months, including recurring non-revenue enhancing capital expenditures and upgrades to our hotel, debt service requirements, dividend and distribution payments, tenant 
improvements and leasing commissions. 
  

We reserved approximately $25.1 million in restricted cash accounts from the net proceeds of the CWP portfolio mortgages to fund capital expenditures obligations in 
connection with existing tenant leases and anticipated costs in connection with leasing activity we expect to incur on the CWP portfolio during 2005 and 2006. We anticipate that 
our existing sources of liquidity, including cash flows from operations and restricted cash accounts, will be sufficient to fund these capital expenditures. As of June 30, 2005, $22.1 
million was remaining of these reserves. 
  

We expect to meet our long-term liquidity and capital requirements such as scheduled principal maturities, development costs, property acquisitions costs, if any, and other 
non-recurring capital expenditures through net cash provided by operations, refinancing of existing indebtedness, potential sales of ownership interests in our existing properties 
and the issuance of long-term debt and equity securities. We have a shelf registration statement on file with the SEC dated September 3, 2004 in order to facilitate the issuance of 
equity securities. 
  

In April 2005, we obtained a $273 million fixed-rate conditional loan commitment to refinance 777 Tower in October 2006 at the then prevailing seven-year swap rate plus a 
spread of 0.949%. On March 4, 2005, we entered into a forward-starting interest rate swap agreement in connection with this anticipated refinancing that will effectively fix this 
loan at 5.844%. 
  

On July 29, 2005, we entered into a $458.0 million conditional loan commitment to refinance our Gas Company Tower and 808 South Olive garage properties in August 2006 
with a new $458.0 million, ten-year, fixed-rate, interest-only mortgage loan at 5.35% including the estimated cost of the forward commitment. 
  

After the Gas Company Tower and 777 Tower refinancings and the expected repayment of the Term Loan with net proceeds of these financings and planned asset sales or 
joint ventures, we expect our floating-rate debt to comprise less than ten percent of our total consolidated debt. 
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� net proceeds from the planned sale or joint venture of non-strategic assets such as Glendale Center, 700 North Central, 801 North Brand;
   
� proceeds from the sale of residential entitled land at Park Place;
   
� net proceeds from refinancing the mortgage loan on 777 Tower;
   
� net proceeds from refinancing the mortgage loan on Gas Company Tower; and
   
� raising institutional equity capital.
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We are required to distribute 90% of our REIT taxable income (excluding capital gains) on an annual basis in order to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. 
Accordingly, we intend to make, but are not contractually bound to make, regular quarterly distributions to preferred stockholders, common stockholders and Unit holders from 
cash flow from operating activities. All such distributions are at the discretion of the board of directors. We may be required to use borrowings under the credit facility, if 
necessary, to meet REIT distribution requirements and maintain our REIT status. We consider market factors and our performance in addition to REIT requirements in 
determining distribution levels. Amounts accumulated for distribution to stockholders and Unit holders are invested primarily in interest-bearing accounts and short-term interest-
bearing securities, which are consistent with our intention to maintain our qualification as a REIT.  
  

Since our IPO, we have paid quarterly dividends on our common stock and Units at a rate of $0.40 per common share and Unit, equivalent to an annual rate of $1.60 per 
common share and common Unit. Since January 23, 2004, we have paid quarterly dividends on our Series A Preferred Stock at a rate of $0.4766 per share of preferred stock. 
  

As of June 30, 2005, we had approximately $3.38 billion of outstanding consolidated debt, including debt related to assets held for sale. This indebtedness was comprised of 
mortgages secured by twenty properties (the US Bank Tower, Gas Company, Wells Fargo - Los Angeles and KPMG Towers, 808 South Olive Garage, One California Plaza, 
Park Place I, Park Place II (two mortgages), Washington Mutual Irvine Campus, Lantana Media Campus, Wells Fargo Center - Denver, Pacific Arts Plaza, 777 Tower, Regents 
Square I and II, Wateridge Plaza, Mission City Corporate Center, Glendale Center, San Diego Tech Center, 801 North Brand and 700 North Central), three mezzanine loans 
secured by a pledge of the equity interests of the fee owners of 808 South Garage and Gas Company Tower and Wateridge Plaza, and a term loan guaranteed by Maguire 
Properties Holdings I, LLC and secured by deeds of trust on Cerritos Corporate Center I and II, Plaza Las Fuentes, the WestinÒ Pasadena Hotel, 755 South Figueroa, 200 
Burchett, the undeveloped land parcel at Washington Mutual Irvine Campus and Pacific Arts West. The weighted average interest rate on this indebtedness as of June 30, 2005 
was 5.07% (based on the 30-day LIBOR rate at June 30, 2005 of 3.34%). As of June 30, 2005, our ratio of debt to total market capitalization was approximately 65.6% of our 
total market capitalization of $5.2 billion (based on a common stock price of $28.34 per share on the New York Stock Exchange on June 30, 2005). Our ratio of debt and 
preferred stock to total market capitalization was approximately 70.4%. As of June 30, 2005, approximately $861.9 million, or 25.5%, of our total consolidated debt was variable-
rate debt. As of June 30, 2005, approximately $2,518.1 million, or 74.5%, of our total consolidated debt was subject to fixed interest rates, all of which, except the $45.2 million 
Washington Mutual secured loan, are subject to fixed interest rates for a minimum of four years. Total market capitalization as of June 30, 2005 includes the book value of our 
consolidated debt, the liquidation value of 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock and the market value of 44,153,642 shares of our common stock and 9,637,508 Units.  
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The table below summarizes our debt (including discontinued operations), at June 30, 2005 (in thousands): 

  

The variable-rate debt shown above bears interest at an interest rate based on 30-day LIBOR. The debt secured by our properties at June 30, 2005 had a weighted average 
term to initial maturity of approximately 6.1 years (approximately 6.3 years assuming exercise of extension options).  
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Debt Summary:       
Fixed rate   $ 2,518,050 
Variable rate     861,880 
Total   $ 3,379,930 

           
Percent of Total Debt:      
     Fixed rate     74.5%
     Variable rate     25.5%

Total     100.0%

           
Effective Interest Rate at End of Quarter      
     Fixed rate     5.08%
     Variable rate      4.99%
     Effective interest rate     5.06%
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The following table sets forth certain information with respect to our indebtedness as of June 30, 2005: 
  

_______
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Properties
Interest 

Rate  
Maturity 

Date  
Principal 
Amount  

Annual 

Debt  

Service(1)  

Balance 
at 

Maturity (2) 

                   
Term Loan LIBOR + 1.75%   03/15/10   $ 415,000    $ 21,417    $ 415,000 

Wells Fargo Center (CO) Mortgage 5.26%   04/06/15     276,000      14,719      276,000 

Pacific Arts Plaza Mortgage 5.15%   04/01/12     270,000      14,098      270,000 

US Bank Tower Mortgage 4.66%   07/01/13     260,000      12,284      260,000 

Gas Company Tower and                                 

     808 South Olive Garage:                                 

          Mortgage (3) LIBOR + 0.824% (4) 07/06/07 (5)   230,000      9,710      230,000 

          Senior Mezzanine (3) LIBOR + 3.750% (6) 07/07/08 (7)   30,000      2,157      30,000 

          Junior Mezzanine (3) LIBOR + 6.625% (4) (8) 07/06/07 (5)   20,000      2,021      20,000 

Wells Fargo Tower (CA) Mortgage 4.68% (9) 07/01/10     250,000      11,863  (10)   234,276 

KPMG Tower Mortgage 5.14%   11/01/11     210,000      10,794  (11)   204,071 

Park Place I Mortgage 5.64%   11/01/14     170,000      9,588  (12)   157,473 

One California Plaza Mortgage 4.73%   12/01/10     146,250      7,014  (13)   137,346 

777 Tower Mortgage (14) 4.81%   10/10/09     115,000      5,608      115,000 

777 Tower Mortgage (14) LIBOR + 0.90%   10/10/09     40,000      1,720      40,000 

San Diego Tech Center Mortgage 5.70%   04/11/15     133,000      7,686      133,000 

Washington Mutual Mortgage 5.066%   12/11/11     106,000      5,445      106,000 

Regents Square I & II Mortgage 5.13%   04/01/12     103,600      5,388      103,600 

Park Place II Mortgage 5.39%   03/12/12     100,000      5,465      100,000 

Lantana Mortgage 4.935%   01/06/10     98,000      4,903      98,000 

Wateridge Plaza Mortgage LIBOR + 1.75% (15) 04/11/07     57,880      2,987      57,880 

Wateridge Plaza Mezzanine  LIBOR + 1.75% (15) 04/11/07     5,000      258      5,000 

Mission City Corporate Center Mortgage 5.09%   04/01/12     52,000      2,684      52,000 

Park Place II Mortgage LIBOR + 1.75%   01/22/06     44,000      2,271      44,000 

Credit Facility LIBOR + 1.75%   03/15/09     20,000      1,032      20,000 

            3,151,730      161,112      3,108,646 

                                  

Washington Mutual Secured Loan (16) 2.82%   12/13/05     45,200      1,275      45,200 

Total Debt - Continuing Operations:           3,196,930      162,387      3,153,846 

                                           

Discontinued Operations                                 

Glendale Center Mortgage 5.727%   11/01/13     80,000      4,645      80,000 

801 North Brand Mortgage 5.73%   4/6/2015     75,540      4,389      75,540 

700 North Central Mortgage 5.73%   4/6/2015     27,460      1,595      27,460 
Total Debt - Discontinued 
     Operations           183,000      10,629      183,000 

                                  
Total Consolidated Debt 
     including Debt Related to 
     Discontinued Operations         $ 3,379,930    $ 173,016    $ 3,336,846 

(1)  Annual debt service for our floating rate debt is calculated based on the 30-day LIBOR rate at June 30, 2005, which was 3.34%. 
   
(2)  Assuming no payment has been made on the principal in advance of its due date. 
   
(3) On July 29, 2005, we obtained a $458.0 million conditional loan commitment to refinance the Gas Company Tower and 808 South Olive garage debt in August 2006 at an effective interest rate of 5.35%, 

including the cost of the forward commitment. 
   
(4)  As required by the loan agreement, we have entered into an interest rate cap agreement with respect to this loan that limits the LIBOR portion of the interest rate to 7.92% during the term of the loan, excluding 

extension periods. Subsequently, we sold a similar interest rate cap instrument, effectively canceling out the 7.92% LIBOR cap. 
   
(5) A one-year extension is available. 
   
(6)  As required by this loan, we have entered into an interest rate cap agreement with respect to this loan that limits the LIBOR portion of the interest rate to 3.5% during the term of the loan, excluding extension 

periods. Subsequently, we sold a similar interest rate cap instrument, effectively canceling out the 3.5% LIBOR cap. 
   
(7)  This loan must be repaid on the maturity date of the Gas Company Tower and 808 South Olive garage mortgage financing if the mortgage 
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During the third quarter we expect to begin construction at Park Place on a 575,000 square foot office building and two parking garages with a parking capacity of 
approximately 5,000 vehicles. Completion is targeted for the first quarter of 2007 for the office building and the fourth quarter of 2006 for the parking garages. The total cost of 
the development is currently estimated to be approximately $240.0 million. We have incurred $6.2 million of predevelopment costs and project that we will spend approximately 
$20.0 million (expected to be funded through a construction loan) of the remaining $233.8 million of the budgeted development costs during the remainder of 2005. During the 
three months ended June 30, 2005, two significant leases were signed and as a result, the project is approximately 47% leased. 
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  is not extended.
   
(8)  This loan is subject to a LIBOR floor of 2%. This loan also requires a monthly “interest floor differential” payment during any month in which LIBOR is less than 2% per annum; such payment must be made 

until the principal balance of the Gas Company Tower and 808 South Olive Garage senior mezzanine loan no longer exceeds $20.0 million, and is equal to the positive difference between 2% and LIBOR, times a 
notional amount that is initially $10.0 million, but which decreases dollar for dollar as the first $10.0 million of senior mezzanine loan principal is repaid. 

   
(9)  There are seven individual rates for this mortgage with interest rates ranging from 4.50% to 4.83% with an average interest rate of 4.68%. 
   
(10)  This loan requires monthly payments of interest until July 2006, and amortizes on a 30-year schedule thereafter. 
   
(11) This loan requires monthly payments of interest until November 2009, and amortizes on a 30-year schedule thereafter. 
   
(12) This loan requires monthly payments of interest until December 2009, and amortizes on a 30-year schedule thereafter. 
   
(13)  This loan requires monthly payments of interest only until November 2007, and amortizes on a 26-year schedule thereafter. 
   
(14)  In April 2005, we obtained a $273 million fixed-rate conditional loan commitment to refinance 777 Tower in October 2006 at the then prevailing seven-year swap rate plus a spread of 0.949%. On March 4, 

2005, we entered into a forward-starting interest rate swap agreement in connection with this anticipated refinancing that will effectively fix this loan at 5.844%. 
   
(15)  As required by the loan agreement, we have entered into an interest rate cap agreement with respect to this loan that limits the LIBOR portion of the interest rate to 4.75% during the term of this loan, excluding 

extension periods. 
   
(16)  This note payable is collateralized with a letter of credit fully secured by an interest bearing cash deposit. The note and related accrued interest are expected to be repaid from the proceeds of the cash deposit. 

Capital Commitments
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The following table provides information with respect to our contractual obligations at June 30, 2005, including the maturities and scheduled principal repayments of our 
secured debt and interest on our fixed-rate debt, and provides information about the minimum commitments due in connection with our ground lease obligations. The table does 
not reflect available debt extension options (in thousands): 
  

__________ 

Our credit facility, Term Loan and certain other secured debt agreements contain covenants and restrictions requiring our company to meet certain financial ratios and 
reporting requirements. Some of the more restrictive covenants include minimum debt service coverage ratios, a maximum total liabilities to total assets ratio, a maximum total 
secured debt to total assets ratio, a minimum cash flow to debt and fixed charges ratio, a minimum consolidated tangible net worth and a limitation of development activities as 
compared to total assets. Non-compliance with any one or more of the covenants and restrictions could result in the full or partial principal balance of the associated debt 
becoming immediately due and payable.  
  

We had no off balance sheet items as of June 30, 2005. We own 100% of our office, hotel and parking garage properties subject only to certain ground and airspace leases. 
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Contractual Obligations 
 

 
Obligation  

Through 
Remainder 

of 2005   2006   2007   2008   2009   Thereafter   Total
                                                  

Long term debt   $ 45,200    $ 45,513    $ 316,947  (1),(2) $ 36,807  (3),(4) $ 162,436  (5) $ 2,570,027    $ 3,176,930 
Long term debt - 
     discontinued operations        —          —          —          —          —       183,000      183,000 

Secured line of credit        —          —          —          —       20,000         —       20,000 
Interest payments-fixed-
     rate debt (6)     59,518      117,480      117,338      117,347      115,350      318,532      845,565 
Interest payments-fixed-
     rate debt-discontinued 
     operations (6)     5,327      10,625      10,625      10,655      10,625      49,948      97,805 
Capital leases payable (7)     1,162      2,282      2,199      1,951      811      506      8,911 
Operating lease obligations (8)     751      1,506      353         —          —          —       2,610 

Ground leases      958      1,915      1,915      1,915      1,915      138,108      146,726 

Total   $ 112,916    $ 179,321    $ 449,377    $ 168,675    $ 311,137    $ 3,260,121    $ 4,481,547 

(1) A one-year extension option available for $250,000.
   
(2) We have obtained a commitment to refinance $250,000 of this debt in August 2006.
   
(3) Maturity accelerated to 2007 for $30,000 if the Gas Company Tower mortgage and junior mezzanine debt is not extended to 2008. 
   
(4) We have obtained a commitment to refinance $30,000 of this debt in August 2006.
   
(5) We have obtained a commitment to refinance $155,000 of this debt in October 2006.
   
(6) As of June 30, 2005, 74.5% of our debt was contractually fixed. The information in the table above reflects our projected interest rate obligations for the fixed-rate payments based on the contractual interest 

rates and scheduled maturity dates. The remaining 25.5% of our debt bears interest at variable rates and the variable-rate payments are based on LIBOR plus a spread that ranges from 0.824% to 6.625%. The 
interest payments on the variable-rate debt have not been reported in the table above because we cannot reasonably determine the future interest obligations on our variable-rate debt as we cannot predict what 
LIBOR rates will be in the future. As of June 30, 2005, the one-month LIBOR was 3.34%.

   
(7) Includes interest and principal payments.
   
(8) Includes operating lease obligations for Austin Research Park and One Renaissance Square. See Note 10 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information. 

Off Balance Sheet Items
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Net cash provided by operating activities increased $27.0 million. The increase was primarily due to positive net operating cash flow from the properties acquired during the 
latter half of 2004, the CWP portfolio acquired in March 2005 and the San Diego Tech Center acquired in April 2005.  
  

Net cash used in investing activities increased $1.4 billion primarily due to the acquisitions of the CWP portfolio on March 15, 2005, San Diego Tech Center on April 6, 2005 
and the World Trade Center Garage on May 31, 2005. During the six months ended June 30, 2004, we acquired Park Place for approximately $260.0 million (including debt 
assumed of $164.0 million). Cash used to fund restricted cash accounts increased $57.8 million primarily due to escrow accounts required under the mortgage loans obtained in 
connection with acquisitions in the second half of 2004 and the first half of 2005. In addition, the company paid $6.7 million more in the current period for real estate 
improvements and paid predevelopment costs at Park Place of $4.0 million. Such increases were partially offset by $78.2 million in net proceeds from the sales of Austin 
Research Park I and II and One Renaissance Square and a $10.0 million decrease in cash paid for deposits for real estate during the six months ended June 30, 2005.  
  

Net cash provided by financing activities increased $1.3 billion. The increase was primarily due to $1.78 billion in new mortgage, term and other borrowings incurred to 
finance the acquisitions of the CWP portfolio in March 2005, San Diego Tech Center in April 2005 and the World Trade Center garage in May 2005. We also refinanced $100.0 
million of property level debt at Park Place II. In connection with these borrowings, we incurred $14.4 million in debt issuance costs. These increases were partially offset by the 
repayment of the $42.0 million debt secured by Austin Research Park I and II and the $35.0 million pay down of the Term Loan with the net proceed from the sales of Austin 
Research Park I and II and One Renaissance Square. There was no new borrowing activity in the six months ended June 30, 2004. However, we sold $250.0 million of our 
preferred stock in January 2004 with no comparable activity in the current period.  
  

Substantially all of our office leases provide for separate real estate tax and operating expense escalations. In addition, many of the leases provide for fixed base rent 
increases. We believe that inflationary increases may be at least partially offset by the contractual rent increases and expense escalations described above. Our hotel property is 
able to change room rates on a daily basis, so the impact of higher inflation can often be passed on to customers. However, a weak economic environment may restrict our ability 
to raise room rates to offset rising costs.  
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Our future income, cash flows and fair values of financial instruments are dependent upon prevalent market interest rates. Market risk refers to the risk of loss from adverse 
changes in market prices and interest rates. We use derivative financial instruments to manage, or hedge, interest rate risks related to our borrowings. We do not use derivatives 
for trading or speculative purposes and only enter into contracts with major financial institutions based on their credit rating and other factors.  
  

As of June 30, 2005, we had outstanding approximately $3,379.9 million in consolidated debt of which approximately $861.9 million, or 25.5%, was variable -rate debt. On 
March 4, 2005, we entered into a forward-starting interest rate swap agreement to hedge an anticipated ten-year, interest-only mortgage loan starting in October 2006 in 
connection with the anticipated $273.0 million refinancing of 777 Tower at a fixed rate of 5.84%. The notional amount of the swap is $261.9 million, effective in October 2006 
with a strike rate of the forward-starting seven-year swap rate of 4.895%. On July 29, 2005, we entered into a $458.0 million forward -starting conditional interest rate 
commitment to refinance our Gas Company Tower and World Trade Center garage properties in August 2006 with a new $458.0 million, ten -year, fixed-rate, interest-only 
mortgage loan at 5.35%, including the estimated cost of the forward commitment.  
  

To determine the fair value, the fixed-rate debt is discounted at a rate based on an estimate of current lending rates, assuming the debt is outstanding through maturity and 
considering the note’s collateral. At June 30, 2005 the fair value of the fixed-rate debt is estimated to be $2,542.0 million, compared to its carrying value of $2,518.1 million. 
  

If interest rates were to increase by 10%, or 50 basis points, the increase in interest expense on our $861.9 million in variable-rate debt would decrease future annual earnings 
and cash flows by approximately $4.3 million. A 50 basis points increase in interest rates would decrease the fair value of our $2,518.1 million principal amount of fixed-rate debt 
by $73.5 million and the fair value of our forward-starting interest rate swap agreement would increase by $7.6 million. If interest rates were to decrease by 10%, or 50 basis 
points, the decrease in interest expense on our $861.9 million in variable-rate debt would increase our future annual earnings and cash flows by approximately $4.3 million and 
would increase the fair value of our $2,518.1 million principal amount of fixed-rate debt by approximately $76.3 million and the fair value of our forward-starting interest rate 
swap agreement would decrease by $7.9 million.  
  

These amounts were determined by considering the impact of hypothetical interest rates on our financial instruments. These analyses do not consider the effect of any 
change in overall economic activity that could occur in that environment. Further, in the event of a change of the magnitude discussed above, we may take actions to further 
mitigate our exposure to the change. However, due to the uncertainty of the specific actions that would be taken and their possible effects, these analyses assume no changes in 
our financial structure. 
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The table below lists our principal derivative instruments and their fair values as of June 30, 2005 (in thousands): 
 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Exchange Act is processed, 
recorded, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our 
management, including our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and 
evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only 
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls 
and procedures. 
  

As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(b), we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Co-Chief Executive 
Officers and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this 
report. Based on the foregoing, our Co-Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer concluded, as of that time, that our disclosure controls and procedures were 
effective at the reasonable assurance level. 
  

There was no change in our company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended June 30, 2005 that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the internal control over financial reporting. Our company may make changes in its internal control processes from time to time in the future.
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    Notional   Strike   Effective   Expiration   Fair  
    Value   Rate   Date   Date   Value  
                            
Forward starting interest rate swap   $ 261,900    4.90%  10/10/2006    10/10/2013  $ (8,695)
Interest rate cap     230,000    7.92%  7/15/2003    7/15/2007    3 
Interest rate cap     20,000    7.92%  11/17/2003    7/15/2007    - 
Interest rate cap sold     250,000    7.92%  7/15/2003    7/15/2007    (3)
Interest rate cap     30,000    3.50%  7/15/2003    7/15/2008    559 
Interest rate cap sold     30,000    3.50%  7/15/2003    7/15/2008    (559)
Interest rate cap     57,880    4.75%  3/14/2005    4/9/2007    57 
Interest rate cap     5,000    4.75%  3/14/2005    4/9/2007    5 
Interest rate cap     37,000    4.90%  3/14/2005    4/9/2007    28 
Interest rate cap     5,000    4.90%  3/14/2005    4/9/2007    4 
Total                       $ (8,601)

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
   
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
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We are Petitioner in a tax litigation matter, which was filed in the United States Tax Court on September 18, 2000, and which relates to depreciation of the cost of certain 
development rights that two of our Predecessor entities paid to the Community Redevelopment Agency of the City of Los Angeles in connection with the development of US 
Bank Tower and Gas Company Tower. The IRS has asserted that these costs should be treated as non-depreciable costs associated with the land. The United States Tax Court 
has issued a “memorandum findings of fact and opinion.” The Court held that in each case the payment made to the Community Redevelopment Agency represented both a 
payment for a “variation” to build each building and a payment comparable to “zoning” change. The amount allocated to the “variation” is depreciated as a cost of developing 
each project. The amount allocated to the zoning change is a cost allocable to the land and is not subject depreciation. Based on the result, we will have less annual tax 
depreciation by an amount that is not material to our financial condition or results of operations. We have filed a Motion for Reconsideration. As of June 30, 2005 a decision has 
not been entered by the Court with respect to the Motion for Reconsideration. 
  

In the ordinary course of our business, we are frequently subject to tort claims and other claims and administrative proceedings, none of which we currently believe would 
have a material adverse effect on us. 
  

(a) None. 
  
(b) None. 
  
(c) None. 
  

Not Applicable. 
  

At our company’s annual meeting of its stockholders on June 7, 2005, stockholders elected Robert F. Maguire III (40,097,402 votes for and 631,220 votes withheld), Caroline 
S. McBride (40,609,916 votes for and 118,706 votes withheld), Richard I. Gilchrist (40,618,127 votes for and 110,495 votes withheld), Andrea L. Van de Kamp (40,608,969 votes 
for and 119,653 votes withheld), Lawrence S. Kaplan (40,611,569 votes for and 117,053 votes withheld), and Walter L. Weisman (40,609,016 votes for and 119,606 votes 
withheld) as directors of our company for terms expiring in 2006. Stockholders also ratified the selection of KPMG LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 
the year ended December 31, 2005 (40,666,507 votes for, 27,932 against and 34,183 abstained). 
  

None.
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32.3   Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned 
thereunto duly authorized.

 

Dated: August 9, 2005

  MAGUIRE PROPERTIES, INC.
     
     
  By:/s/    Robert F. Maguire III
   Robert F. Maguire III
   Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer
    
  By:/s/    Richard I. Gilchrist
   Richard I. Gilchrist
   Co-Chief Executive Officer and President
    
  By:/s/    Dallas E. Lucas
   Dallas E. Lucas
   Executive Vice President and 
   Chief Financial Officer
   (Principal Financial Officer)
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